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Missouri Development Finance Board 

 
September 15, 2009 
 
 
Members of the Missouri Development Finance Board: 
 
We are pleased to submit the comprehensive annual financial report of the Missouri Development 
Finance Board (the “Board”) of the State of Missouri for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009.  The 
accounting department prepared this report, while responsibility for both the accuracy of the 
presented data and the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this report, based 
upon a comprehensive frame-work of internal control that was established for this purpose, rests 
with the Board.  Because the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the 
objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are 
free of any material misstatements. 
 
Williams-Keepers LLC, Certified Public Accountants, have issued an unqualified (“clean”) opinion 
on the Missouri Development Finance Board’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 
2009. The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of the financial section of this report. 
 
Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s 
report and provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements.  
This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read with it as well. 
 
PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT 
 
The Missouri Development Finance Board is a "body corporate and politic" created by the State of 
Missouri.  Its statutory citation is the Revised Statutes of Missouri (RSMo) 100.250 to 100.297.  The 
Board's primary function is to structure and participate in the financing of Missouri business and 
public infrastructure.  The Board is classified as a proprietary fund and is a discretely presented 
component unit within the State of Missouri’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 
The original development board was created by Missouri statute in 1982 as the Missouri Industrial 
Development Board.  The current legislative authorization dates to 1993 and was the fourth major 
statutory change since 1982.  Each of these changes resulted in increased authority and responsibility 
for the Board in economic development and infrastructure financing. 
 
The Board provides a diverse array of financing programs to carry out its mission of facilitating 
economic and infrastructure development projects.  The Board administers fourteen different 
programs that correspond to its mission to benefit the citizens of the State of Missouri.  The Board’s 
programs include: 
 

1. Revenue bonds for private commercial and nonprofit projects. 
 Pursuant to RSMo 100.275, the Board is authorized to issue revenue bonds for purposes permitted 

under RSMo 100.255, including the purchase, construction and improvement of facilities used for 
manufacturing and other commercial purposes, and for recreational and cultural facilities. 
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2. Revenue bonds for public infrastructure projects. 
 The Board is also authorized to issue its revenue bonds to finance essential infrastructure 

improvements and related work for local governments, state agencies and qualified public/private 
partnerships. 
 

3. Missouri Tax Credit for Contributions.  
Missouri Statute 100.286.6 authorized the Missouri Tax Credit for Contributions program.  
Through this program, the Board is authorized to grant tax credits equal to fifty percent of 
contributions.  Contributions are used to pay the costs of projects for Missouri governmental, quasi-
governmental and nonprofit entities which have been approved by the Board.  Per statute, during 
any calendar year, the Board is authorized to issue no greater than ten million dollars.  The 
limitation on tax credit authorization and approval provided under this subsection may be exceeded 
only upon mutual agreement, evidenced by a signed and properly notarized letter by the Directors 
of the Department of Economic Development and Revenue and the Commissioner of 
Administration.  
 
In January 2001, the Board approved the restructuring of the Downtown Revitalization Tax Credit 
Program and allocated $500,000 in tax credits annually to help maximize the program’s impact on 
smaller communities.  In February 2008, the Board increased its commitment to this program to $1 
million in tax credits annually.  The Board can rescind the reservation each calendar year.  

 
4. Tax Credit Bond Enhancement Program.  

The Tax Credit Bond Enhancement Program provides a tax credit enhancement on behalf of public 
entities for certain bonds.  This program uses the Board’s bond tax credits as collateral. 
 

5. Direct Loan Program. 
The Direct Loan Program provides direct loans at reasonable interest rates. 

 
6. BUILD Missouri (Business Use Incentives for Large-Scale Development) Program.  

The BUILD Missouri Program is an incentive tool that allows the Department of Economic 
Development and the Board to finance a portion of the costs of qualifying capital investments for 
eligible businesses that seek to locate or expand in Missouri and create a significant number of new 
jobs.  The incentives offered by BUILD are designed to offset infrastructure and other capital costs 
of certain large projects by making the cost of investing in Missouri more competitive. 

 
7. Quick Loan Program.   

The Quick Loan Program is to provide Missouri governmental and quasi-governmental entities 
quick access to short-term loans at tax-exempt rates.  Loans should be for a minimum of $250,000 
with a maximum maturity of seven years.  Loans need not be secured by any property and may be 
subject to annual appropriation.  Borrowers must have a demonstrated history of repayment ability. 

  
8. Missouri Infrastructure Development Loan Program (MIDOC).  

The MIDOC Program offers long-term, low-interest loans to local political subdivisions, including 
public water and sewer districts, to fund infrastructure improvements.  Water and sewer projects 
addressing public health and safety receive priority.  The Program is structured as a revolving loan 
program with repayment proceeds used to provide additional loans for eligible infrastructure 
projects.  Interest rates are three percent with a maximum loan amount of $150,000; however, if 
there is a critical need and with Board approval, this maximum loan amount may be exceeded.  In 
December 2008, the Board amended the maximum proceeds amount from $100,000 to $150,000. 
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9. Loan Guarantees.  
The Board is empowered under RSMo sections 100.250 to 100.297, as amended, to guarantee loans 
to credit-worthy businesses which cannot otherwise obtain credit at reasonable rates and terms in 
order to create or retain full-time employment. 

 
10. City/State Partners Program.  

The City/State Partners Program is a joint effort between the Ex-Im Bank and state and local 
entities around the country to bring Ex-Im Bank’s financing services to small and medium-sized 
U.S. companies that are ready to export.  The Board markets programs offered by the Ex-Im Bank 
and packages applications for these programs.  The Board’s relationship with the Ex-Im Bank 
provides Missouri companies a direct line to export financing.  In addition, the Board’s relationship 
with the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) and the State Treasurer’s Office provides loan 
programs to support the production of goods and services for export. 
 

11. Missouri Downtown Economic Stimulus Act (MODESA). 
The MODESA Program is an incentive tool that allows the Department of Economic Development 
and the Board to facilitate the redevelopment of downtown areas and the creation of jobs by 
providing essential public infrastructure.  A portion of the new state and local taxes created by a 
project can be diverted to fund eligible public infrastructure and related costs for a period of up to 
25 years.  The local match must be, at a minimum, 50% of the amount of the new local sales tax 
(and earnings tax in St. Louis and Kansas City) and 100% of the amount of the new real property 
tax created by the project each year; or a comparable amount of local funds from the city/county or 
a non-profit organization. 

 
12. Downtown Revitalization and Economic Assistance for Missouri (DREAM). 

The DREAM Initiative is a comprehensive, streamlined approach to downtown revitalization that 
provides a one-stop shop of technical and financial assistance for select communities to more 
efficiently and effectively engage in the downtown revitalization process.  The DREAM initiative is 
created through a partnership between the Missouri Development Finance Board, the Missouri 
Department of Economic Development and the Missouri Housing Development Commission. 

 
13. Missouri Community Investment Corporation (MCIC).   

MCIC is the Board’s only discretely presented component unit.  The Board members of the 
Missouri Development Finance Board as well as five additional members serve as the Board for 
MCIC.  MCIC is a non-profit organization established for the primary purpose to serve as a 
qualified community development entity (CDE) providing investment capital for the benefit of 
Low-Income Communities and Low-Income Persons within the State of Missouri in connection 
with the New Market Tax Credit program established pursuant to Section 45D of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 as amended.  In October 2007, MCIC received word that it would not 
receive an allocation of tax credits.  MCIC will be inactive until such an allocation is received.  For 
this reason, it was not presented for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008. 

 
14. Small Business Micro-Loan Program. 

Governor Jeremiah W. (Jay) Nixon issued Executive Order 09-03 shortly after assuming office.  
This E.O. directed the Department of Economic Development to work with the Board “to create a 
pool of funds designated for low-interest and no-interest direct loans for small businesses.”  Related 
announcements from Governor Nixon recommended this pool of funds be capitalized by a $2 
million grant from the Board. The Board is in the process of developing policies and procedures 
and expects to issue loans in the year ending June 30, 2010. 
 

The Board completed fiscal year 2009 in sound financial condition.  The change in net assets for fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2009 was $5,725,001 versus ($6,846,391) for fiscal year ended 2008.  The Board’s 
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activities provided funding for the Board’s operations but also fulfilled its mission to the state of 
Missouri.  Assets were $117,412,653 and $122,791,874 at June 30, 2009 and June 30, 2008, 
respectively.  The Board’s involvement in very large projects has grown and, correspondingly, the 
Board’s on-going responsibility to monitor those projects and their funds has significantly increased. 
 
LOCAL ECONOMY 
 
As a major manufacturing, financial, and agricultural state, Missouri’s diverse economic health is 
closely tied to that of the nation.  The economic outlook follows the national trends during fiscal year 
2009.  At the end of June 2009, the state unemployment rate was 9.3% compared to 6.4% at the end of 
June 2008.  The national rate was 9.5% and 5.7% at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
 
MAJOR INTIATIVES 
 
During fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, the Board has authorized 27 projects resulting in total Board 
related financing of approximately $622 million. During fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, the 
Board authorized 31 and 23 projects, respectively.  Listed below are the significant projects approved 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. 
 
The Nelson Gallery Foundation 
 
In July 2008, the Board authorized the conduit issuance of $108.5 million in Cultural Facility Bonds.  
The issuance refinanced Series 2001B debt for $85 million as well as provided funds for a new museum 
project.  The bonds that were refunded provided funds for construction of the Bloch Building and 
renovations to the original 1933 building.   
 
MasterCard International, LLC 
 
In November 2008, the Board authorized the conduit issuance of $154 million in Taxable Industrial 
Development Refunding Bonds.  In 1999, the Board issued Bonds for $154 million to fund construction 
of approximately 414,000 square feet of office space and a 114,000 square foot data and energy center 
on 52 acres in O’Fallon.  The project also included equipment for the facility that has been occupied by 
MasterCard Global Technology and Operation since 2001.  The original arrangement called for the 
Board to hold title to the facility and lease it to the O’Fallon Public Facilities Authority which then 
subleased it to MCI O’Fallon 1999 Trust, which further subleased to MasterCard.  The refinance 
afforded MasterCard the opportunity to exercise its option to refund the Bonds in connection with 
MasterCard’s pay-off of its primary loan for the facility.  In addition, it streamlined the financing 
structure by eliminating the subleases involved. 
 
Jackson County Sports Authority and Missouri Western State University 
 
In December 2008, the MDFB approved $25 million in credits to leverage $50 million in contributions.  
The contributions, and proceeds from the sale of tax credits are to be used for various infrastructure and 
facility upgrades in and around Arrowhead Stadium, and toward construction of a new indoor practice 
facility on the Missouri Western State University (MWSU) campus in St. Joseph.   
 
In June 2009, the MDFB approved amendments to the project that resulted in the Chiefs retaining their 
training camp in the State of Missouri for a minimum of 10 years, the initial 5 years will be at MWSU 
and established a specific dollar amount liquidated damages over the term to be paid in the event that 
the training camp is moved prior to the agreed upon date.  In addition it resulted in clarifications to the 
fees to be charged to both organizations. 
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City of Independence – Multipurpose Events Center, Eastland Center, Water Utility, Electric Utility 
and Crackerneck Creek 
 
During Fiscal Year 2009, the Board provided conduit financing for multiple projects located in 
Independence, Missouri.   
 
In December 2008, the Board authorized the conduit issuance of $15 million and $3 million in Public 
Infrastructure Bonds.  The $15 million issuance financed an Events Center to be located at the southeast 
corner of the intersection of Interstates 70 and 470.  The City expects the primary tenant of the Events 
Center to be a hockey team in the Central Hockey League.  In addition, the Events Center will have a 
wide variety of uses including concerts, banquets, graduations, sporting events beyond hockey, trade 
shows and conventions.  The $3 million issuance financed road and traffic improvements in the 
adjacent Eastland Center TIF district. 
 
In February 2009, the Board authorized the conduit issuance of $31 million in Public Infrastructure 
Bonds to fund Electric Utilities Capital Improvements. The bonds were used to finance extensive 
repairs for two 50-year old plant buildings, as well as provide funds to match a FEMA grant intended to 
cover the costs to bury lines susceptible to tree damage during inclement weather. 
 
In February and May 2009, the Board authorized the conduit issuance of $47 million in Public 
Infrastructure Bonds for water utility capital improvements and to refund 1986 water bonds.  Projects 
associated with this bond financing include replacement of water mains, construction of a transmission 
main serving residents in eastern and southern Independence and the extension of water mains to 
eastern Independence.  The Department also will relocate water mains when the Public Works 
Department makes future street improvements.  
 
BUILD Missouri 
 
RSMo Sections 100.700 to 100.850 govern the Business Use Incentives for Large-Scale Development 
Act (BUILD) that created the program.  During fiscal year 2009, three issues were given final approval 
while four issues were closed. During fiscal year 2008, three issues were given final approval while two 
issues were closed and during fiscal year 2007, one bond issue was approved and one issue was closed. 
 
Since the program’s inception, the Board has given final approval to 40 BUILD bond projects for 
various locations throughout the State.  The total jobs promised to be created are over 12,402, issuing 
$80.4 million in bonds and will include over $2.1 billion in new private investment to the state of 
Missouri. 
 
Smaller Communities 
 
The Board continues to work toward its goal to actively seek out-state projects (outside the 
metropolitan areas of Kansas City and St. Louis).  These efforts can be demonstrated by the initiation of 
the Downtown Revitalization Tax Credit for Contribution Program that focuses on smaller, out-state 
communities and the DREAM program. During fiscal year 2009, the Board approved projects in two 
communities through the use of the Downtown Revitalization Tax Credit Program.  Both communities 
also receive assistance through the DREAM program.   
 
In February 2009, the Board approved $125,000 in credits to the City of Hermann to assist in the 
redevelopment of the only remaining green space in downtown Hermann.  The green space is located 
next to the German School Museum which is currently under renovation.  The credits were used to 
leverage $250,000 in funds to repair the park to its historic condition.  The completion of the park will 
have a significant impact on the Downtown District and surrounding businesses.   
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In March 2009, the Board approved $121,100 in credits to the City of Chillicothe for the benefit of 
Main Street Chillicothe’s Silver Moon Plaza.  The credits leveraged $242,000 in contributions that will 
be utilized to revitalize a blighted area in Downtown Chillicothe where three buildings were razed.  
Once developed, the park will showcase a mural depicting a former area feed business.  The DREAM 
Initiative has placed a priority on this project in an effort to increase pedestrian traffic, boost the 
downtown economy, and provide an aesthetic venue in which to hold a variety of events and 
programming.   
 
During fiscal year 2008, the Board approved projects in four communities through the use of the 
Downtown Revitalization Tax Credit Program.  In February 2008, the Board approved $225,000 in 
credits to Columbia to facilitate the renovation of their City Hall as well as streetscape improvements 
throughout downtown Columbia.  In November 2007, the Board approved $112,500 in credits to 
partially finance renovation to the historic Sedalia train station to promote redevelopment in downtown 
Sedalia.  Sedalia is a Missouri DREAM community.  In October 2007, the Board approved credits in 
the amount of $250,000 for the City of Hermann to finance public infrastructure projects in connection 
with the DREAM initiative.  And finally in July 2007, the Board authorized an additional $35,000 in 
tax credits to finance the costs of an Automated Weather Observation System for the City of Neosho 
Airport Terminal.   
 
During fiscal years 2009 and 2008, the Board approved two loans and one loan respectively from the 
Infrastructure Development Fund (MIDOC) to improve the water and wastewater system needs of 
smaller communities.  During its history, the MIDOC program has issued 80 out-state loans with over 
$5.4 million in loaned principal. 
 
Since inception, the Missouri Association of Municipal Utilities (MAMU) has assisted 68 communities 
through the issuance of $174 million of the Missouri Association of Municipal Utilities Tax-Exempt 
Commercial Paper, Series 1999, 2003, 2005, 2006 and 2008 for the Missouri Association of Municipal 
Utilities Municipal Finance Program.  MAMU is a not-for-profit trade organization for Missouri 
municipalities owning and operating an electric, water, natural gas or wastewater utility that offers the 
Municipal Finance Program to assist communities in financing utility improvements. 
 
During the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 and 2008, the Board worked with the Missouri Department 
of Economic Development and the Missouri Housing Development Commission in the DREAM 
Initiative.  The three organizations recommended 10 to 12 communities in each year to the Governor’s 
office to provide a one-stop shop of technical and financial assistance to more efficiently and 
effectively engage in the downtown revitalization process.  The ten communities selected in fiscal year 
2009 were: Boonville, Farmington, Fulton, Lamar, Lebanon, Louisiana, Macon, Strafford, Warrensburg 
and Webb City.  The ten DREAM communities selected in fiscal year 2008 were: Aurora, 
Caruthersville, Chillicothe, Clinton, Kirksville, Maryville, Mexico, Poplar Bluff, Sikeston and Trenton.    
 
Future Projects 
 
During Fiscal Year 2009, the Board negotiated a lease with representatives from DESCO and Schnuck 
Markets, Inc. (SMI).  SMI-NSG, LLC, an affiliate of SMI, will lease the 20,800 square-foot retail space 
located in the Ninth Street Garage to operate an urban concept grocery store.  The store will have all the 
features of Schnuck’s larger stores including: meats, seafood, pharmacy, floral, organic and specialty 
food and produce.  The store is scheduled to open in early August 2009. 
 
The Board will continue its efforts to work with the City of Kansas City, the Kansas City Economic 
Development Council and their affiliates to redevelop the blighted Bannister Mall district located along 
I-435 and 87th street.  The project, referred to as the Three Trails Redevelopment, consists of demolition 
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of all blighted facilities including the Bannister Mall, any other blighted buildings as well as 
remediation of any further blighting in these zones.  The developer plans to construct a 17,000 - 18,500 
seat soccer stadium to be the home of a professional soccer team.  In addition, the plans call for 
construction of two Class A office facilities.  The district is also supported by a TIF that will include the 
Stadium, the Stadium Hotel, retail space and 12 soccer fields.  In November 2008, the project was 
approved an allocation of tax credits in the amount of $30 million to be utilized over three calendar 
years. 
 
The Board will continue to work with the St. Louis Port Authority and St. Louis County in its efforts to 
construct a 474,690 square foot office and record storage building which will be leased to the General 
Services Administration (GSA).  It is anticipated that the building will house over 700 federal agency 
employees. 
 
The Board will continue its efforts to assist St. Louis in its renovation of the old Cardinal Ballpark site 
through the Ballpark Village MODESA project.    
 
During Fiscal Year 2010, the Board anticipates funding the Small Business Revolving Loan Program 
that will extend capital financing loans to small businesses throughout the State of Missouri. 
 
The Board is currently investigating the opportunity to construct another parking garage in downtown 
St. Louis.   
 
RELEVANT FINANCIAL POLICIES 
 
Internal Controls 
 
In fulfilling its responsibilities for reliable financial statements, management depends on the Board’s 
system of internal control.  This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 
effectively safeguarded and transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization 
and properly classified.  The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control 
should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires 
estimates and judgments by management.   
 
The members of the Board review and approve financial information on a monthly basis for 
appropriateness, reliability, clarity and timeliness. 
 
Budgetary Controls 
 
The Board is not legally required to adopt a fiscal budget; however, for the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2009 and June 30, 2008, the Board adopted an operational budget for internal use only. Hence, no 
budget-to-actual schedules are included within the financial statements. 
 
Primary Functions 
 
The Board’s mission is to assist infrastructure and economic development projects in Missouri that 
have a high probability of success, but are not feasible without the Board’s assistance. 
 
The Board's primary function is to structure and participate in the financing of Missouri business and 
public infrastructure.  As mentioned before, the Board administers fourteen different programs that 
correspond to its mission to benefit the citizens of the State of Missouri. 
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Proprietary Operations 
 
The Board’s funds are all Proprietary – Enterprise funds and are maintained on the accrual basis of 
accounting.  Thus, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is 
incurred. 
 
Debt Administration 
 
One of the Board’s primary functions is as a conduit issuer of bonds for public and private entities.  
With the exception of the Ninth Street Garage project entered into during fiscal year 2005 and the St. 
Louis Convention Center Hotel Garage project entered into during fiscal year 2001, the Board has no 
liability for repayment of revenue bonds and funding notes aside from any required reserve fund 
deposits and, accordingly, these conduit bonds and notes have not been recorded in the accompanying 
financial statements.  Security for the bondholders consists of insurance, letters of credit, annual 
appropriation pledges, and certain funds held through trustees under the various indentures. 
 
For additional information regarding the Board’s debt, refer to Note 8 of the notes to the financial 
statements and the debt-related tables presented in the Statistical Section of this Report. 
 
Cash Management 
 
The accounting department strives to keep abreast of current trends and procedures for cash 
management and forecasting to ensure the efficient and profitable use of the Board’s cash resources.  
Interest bearing accounts are used for all cash operations, with excess funds invested primarily in short-
term U.S. Government Agency securities.  All funds in bank accounts are 100% collateralized. 
 
Risk Management 
 
Fiduciary bonding and workers compensation insurance are maintained through various commercial 
insurance companies.  The Board carries commercial property, comprehensive liability, and business 
interruption insurance policies on the St. Louis Convention Center Hotel parking garage and the Ninth 
Street Garage.  The Board is self-insured for all other risks of loss. 
 
The Board maintains employee health insurance through Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield.  Subject 
to availability, the Board provides life insurance for its employees at two times their annual salary and 
long-term disability insurance through American General and Northwest Mutual Insurance Company, 
respectively. 
 
AWARDS 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Missouri Development Finance 
Board for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008.  This is 
the ninth consecutive year the Board has received this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized 
comprehensive annual financial report.  This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting 
principles and applicable legal requirements. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe that our current 
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s 
requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 
As management of the Missouri Development Finance Board (the “Board”), we offer readers of the 
Board’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of our 
organization for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 
• The assets of the Board exceeded its liabilities at the close of the 2009 fiscal year by $74,933,223 

(Net Assets).  Of this amount, $52,061,830 (Unrestricted Net Assets) may be used to meet the 
Board’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 
• The Board’s total net assets increased by $5,725,001 during fiscal year 2009.   The increase can 

largely be attributed to a change in the allowance for the Old Post Office loan receivable.  This 
increase was partially offset by a contribution to help fund the Tour of Missouri Bike Race as well 
as assistance to SMI-NSG, LLC for tenant improvements in the Ninth Street Garage. 

 
• At the end of the 2009 fiscal year, the unrestricted fund balance for the Industrial Development and 

Reserve Fund was $42,112,103, or approximately 12.47 times the Industrial Development and 
Reserve Fund’s 2009 operating and non-operating expenses of $3,376,004. 

 
• During fiscal year 2009, the Board paid down $1,000,000 in debt on the Ninth Street Garage Series 

2004A taxable infrastructure facilities revenue bond.  No new debt was issued during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2009.   

 
Overview of the Basic Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Board’s basic financial 
statements. Typically, government financial statements would be presented as three components:         
1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial 
statements.  
 
However, because the Board uses only proprietary funds which present financial statement information 
in the same manner as government-wide financial statements only with more detail, we present two 
components.  The Board’s basic financial statements include: 1) fund financial statements and 2) notes 
to the financial statements. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The Board, like other discretely presented component 
units of the State of Missouri (as defined by GASB Statement No. 14), uses fund accounting to ensure 
and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. There are three categories 
available for governmental accounting: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.  The 
Board’s funds are considered proprietary funds. 
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Proprietary funds.  Proprietary funds consist of two types of funds:  Internal Service funds and 
Enterprise funds.  Of the two types of proprietary funds, the Board maintains one type:  Enterprise 
funds.  Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities.  
Specifically, Enterprise funds account for operations that provide a service to citizens that are financed 
primarily by a user charge for the provision of that service.  Enterprise funds also account for activities 
where the periodic measurement of net income is deemed appropriate for capital maintenance, public 
policy, management control, accountability or other purposes.   
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, 
only in more detail.  The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the 
Industrial Development and Reserve Fund, the Parking Garage Fund, and the Infrastructure 
Development (Revolving Loan) Fund.  All funds are considered to be major funds. 
 
Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  
 
Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position.  In the case of the Board, assets exceeded liabilities by $74,933,223 at the close of fiscal year 
2009, by $69,208,222 at the close of fiscal year 2008, and by $76,054,613 at the close of fiscal year 
2007. 
 
The following summarizes the composition of the Board’s net assets as of June 30: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Unrestricted net assets are funds which may be used to meet the Board’s ongoing obligations to citizens 
and creditors.  Restricted net assets are restricted to specific purposes and may not be used for anything 
else.  Capital assets are used to provide services to the citizens of Missouri.   

Investment in capital assets,
  net of related debt 20,069,761$  26.78% 20,321,656$  29.36% 30,561,762$  40.19%
Restricted 2,801,632     3.74% 5,794,847     8.37% 6,846,459     9.00%
Unrestricted 52,061,830    69.48% 43,091,719    62.26% 38,646,392    50.81%

74,933,223$  100.00% 69,208,222$  100.00% 76,054,613$  100.00%

20072009 2008
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There was no material change in the capital assets in fiscal year 2009.  The decrease in capital assets, 
net of related debt, in 2008, is due to the donation of the Kansas City Library Garage to Kansas City 
Urban Public Library District.  See note 11 for further details.  The increase in investment in capital 
assets, net of related debt, in 2007, is due to the construction activity on the NSG project for the parking 
garage in St. Louis. 
 
Restricted net assets decreased $2,993,215 (52%) from 2008 to 2009.  The decrease is a result of 
reclassification of restricted net assets.  Restricted net assets decreased $1,051,612 (15%) from 2007 to 
2008 due to draws on tax credit project funds.  Restricted net assets decreased $12,531,367 (65%) from 
2006 to 2007.   
 
The increase in net assets for fiscal year 2009 was largely because of the adjustment to allowance for 
notes receivable for the Old Post Office loan.  The $500,000 contribution to the 2009 Tour of Missouri 
Bike Race and the $1,100,000 SMI-NSG, LLC accrual reduced net assets of the Board for the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2009.  The decrease in net assets for fiscal year 2008 was largely due to the 
donation of the Kansas City Library Garage to the Kansas City Urban Public Library District and due to 
a $950,000 contribution to the 2007 and 2008 Tour of Missouri Bike Races.  During fiscal year 2007, 
net income was positively affected by the Ninth Street Garage becoming fully operational. 
 
The following summarizes the changes in net assets for the years ended June 30: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
From 2008 to 2009, operating income is up $4,294,634 (155%).  This large increase was due to the 
adjustment for the Old Post Office loan as mentioned above.  Participation fees are down in fiscal year 
2009 due to lower tax credit for contribution fees.  Parking Garage revenues were also down. 
 
In comparison with 2007, 2008 operating income was up $433,042 (18%).  Participation fees were up 
due to demand of Board programs.  DREAM reimbursement revenue increased due to the first 
matching installments collected from the DREAM communities. 
 

Operating income (loss) 7,071,301$    123.52% 2,776,667$    40.56% 2,343,625$    49.82%
Non-operating revenue (expense) (1,346,300)    -23.52% (9,623,057)    -140.56% 2,135,926     45.40%
Contributed revenue -              0.00% -              0.00% 225,000        4.78%

Change in net assets 5,725,001$    100.00% (6,846,391)$  -100.00% 4,704,551$    100.00%

2009 20072008
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• Participation fees decreased $599,456 (19.4%) in the current fiscal year.  The decrease is due to 

lower tax credit for contribution fee income offset by an increased volume of bond issuances.  
Participation fees increased $472,402 (18.1%) in fiscal year 2008.  Participation fees also 
increased in fiscal year 2007 by $1,522,158 (140.8%).  In both fiscal years 2008 and 2007 the 
increase was due to increased fees from the tax credit for contribution program.   

 
• Interest on loan and notes receivable decreased in 2009 by $155,949 (49.23%) due to lower 

loan receivable balances as a result of prior years’ payoffs.  Interest on loans and notes 
receivable decreased in 2008 by $115,629 (26.7%) due to the payoff of HEERS and Plattsburg 
loans. In fiscal year 2007 interest on loans and notes receivable increased by $107,077 (33%).  
The increase in 2007 is attributable to a $3.1 million loan issued to the City of Springfield to 
purchase the HEERS Building in downtown Springfield. 

 
• Due to decreased income from special events and due to the sale of the Kansas City Library 

Garage in late fiscal year 2008, parking garage operating revenue is down $542,263 (14.97%) 
in 2009 in comparison to 2008.  Parking garage operating revenue increased in 2008 and 2007 
by $743,314 (25.8%) and $620,164 (21.40%), respectively.  The increases in 2008 and 2007 
are due to the opening in 2007 and continued operations of the Ninth Street Garage in 
downtown St. Louis.   

 
• No contributed revenue was received in fiscal years 2009 and 2008.  However, in 2007, 

contributed revenue in the amount of $225,000 was received for tenant improvements for a 
museum located in the Old Post Office (OPO).  Overall for the fiscal year 2007, contributed 
revenue declined ($2,375,000) (91.35%) due to the ending of fundraising on the OPO.  

 
• Interest income on cash and investments decreased $1,401,934 (55.33%) and $538,357 (17.5%) 

for the fiscal years’ 2009 and 2008, respectively; while increasing $942,915 (44.29%) for the 
2007 fiscal year.  The decrease in 2009 and 2008 is due to economic downturn, which drove 
rates down, as well as smaller balances on-hand for tax credit projects.  The increase in 2007 
can be attributed to higher balances in tax credit for contribution accounts.  For fiscal years 
2009, 2008 and 2007 the Board’s average interest rate on cash and investments was 
approximately 2.59%, 4.51%, and 5.4% respectively.   

 
• The Parking Garage Fund was established in 2003 by the Board to account for the construction 

and ongoing operations of three parking garages.  The three garages are as follows:  St. Louis 
Convention Center Hotel Garage (SLCCHG), Ninth Street Garage (NSG) supporting the OPO 
redevelopment in St. Louis, and the Kansas City Library Garage (KCLG).  The Board is the 
sole owner of these garages. SLCCHG was placed in service during fiscal year 2003; the 
KCLG was placed in service in fiscal year 2004 and the NSG was placed in service in early 
2007.  The Board no longer owns the KCLG as this garage was contributed to the Kansas City 
Urban Public Library District during fiscal year 2008.   

 
• There were two interfund transfers in fiscal year 2009.  The first was for $342,764 from the 

Industrial Development & Reserve Fund to the Ninth Street Garage, Parking Garage Fund.  
This money was used with the garage funds to pay down a total of $1,000,000 in debt for the 
2004A series bond.  The second interfund transfer was for $2,000,000 to fund the new Small 
Business Loan program, as established in the Governor’s Executive Order 09-03 in fiscal year 
2009.  There were no interfund transfers during fiscal years 2008 and 2007.   
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In fiscal year 2009, operating expenses increased $318,393 (5.8%).  There were increases in operating 
expenses including an increase in professional fees of $335,082 (216%), DREAM expenses of 
$355,183 (23.66%) and personnel expenses $128,181 (19.47%).  Personnel expenses increased due to 
the fact that new staff hired in fiscal year 2008 were receiving full salary and benefits for the entire 
fiscal year, along with the modest increases in insurance coverage. Professional fees increased due to 
pension plan research.  DREAM expenses have increased because of the additional 10 communities 
selected in 2008 for a total of 30 communities’ expenses.  These increases were offset by decreases in 
depreciation and amortization $212,566 (14.25%) and parking garage operating expenses $315,975 
(23.42%). 
 
In fiscal year 2008, operating expenses increased $1,558,975 (40%) primarily due to an increase in 
DREAM expenses of $1,005,767 (203%).  DREAM expenses have increased due to the inclusion of 
both 2006 and 2007 communities’ expenses.  There were other increases in operating expenses 
including depreciation and amortization of $467,678 (46%) and an increase in parking garage operating 
expenses of $233,553 (21%).  These increases were offset by moderate decreases in personnel expenses 
of $38,938 (5.9%), supplies and other of $35,652 (25%), bad debt expense of $32,877 (24%), and 
miscellaneous expense of $46,169 (70%). 
 
In year 2007, operating expenses decreased $2,102,443 (35%) primarily due to decreased bad debt 
expense of ($3,359,268) offset by modest increases in every other category (with the exception of a 
minor decrease in travel expense) as follows: personnel services increased $73,812 (12%), professional 
fees increased $104,425 (184%), supplies and other increased $34,586 (31%),  depreciation increased 
$281,159 (38%), parking garage operating expenses increased $231,584 (26%), DREAM expenses of 
$495,312 and miscellaneous increased $36,564 (123%). 
 

Revenues ‐ 2009
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Revenues ‐ 2008
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Revenues ‐ 2007
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Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
The Board’s investment in capital assets for its business type activities as of June 30, 2009 amounts to 
$50,919,761, net of depreciation.  This is a decrease from this time last year of $1,251,895.  The 
Board’s investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2008 was $52,171,656.  This is a decrease of 
$10,240,105 from June 30, 2007.  The Board’s investment in capital assets for its business type 
activities as of June 30, 2007 amounts to $62,411,762, net of depreciation.  This is an increase of 
$11,244,170 from June 30, 2006.  This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, and 
equipment.  The change in the Board’s investment in capital assets for fiscal years’ 2009, 2008 and 
2007 was (2.4%), (16%) and 22%, respectively.   
  
There were no major capital assets purchased or retired during fiscal year 2009.  The major capital asset 
event in the 2008 fiscal year was the donation of the KCLG to the Kansas City Urban Public Library 
District.  In the 2007 fiscal year the major capital asset event was the completion of the Ninth Street 
Garage.   

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Additional information on the Board’s capital assets can be found in note 6 to the financial statements. 
 
Outstanding Bond Debt 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2009 the Board had total bond debt outstanding of $30,850,000.  During fiscal 
year 2009, $240,000 was paid towards the normal debt service schedule and an additional $760,000 
was paid in advance towards this debt.  Prior fiscal years 2008 and 2007, the Board had total bond debt 
outstanding of $31,850,000.   
 
None of this amount comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the State of Missouri.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Additional information on the Board’s bond debt can be found in note 8 to the financial statements. 
 

2009 2008 2007
Land  $     7,219,739  $   7,219,739  $   9,271,176 
Construction in process                    -                     -                   - 
Buildings and façade       43,613,311     44,859,270     53,018,024 
Equipment             45,386           39,264           81,238 
Leasehold improvements             31,205           36,874           41,324 
Vehicle             10,120           16,509                   - 

Total  $    50,919,761  $ 52,171,656  $ 62,411,762 

Missouri Development Finance Board's Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

2009 2008 2007

Outstanding bond debt  $    30,850,000  $ 31,850,000  $ 31,850,000 

Missouri Development Finance Board's Outstanding Debt
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Items of Significance for the Current Year 
 
In the current year, the following items of interest occurred: 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, the Board along with the Department of Economic 
Development and the Missouri Housing Development Commission continued to work with the 2006, 
2007 and 2008 DREAM communities.  The ten 2006 DREAM communities assisted were:  Cape 
Girardeau, Excelsior Springs, Hannibal, Hermann, Kennett, Neosho, Sedalia, St. Joseph, Washington 
and West Plains.  The ten 2007 DREAM communities served were:  Aurora, Caruthersville, 
Chillicothe, Clinton, Kirksville, Maryville, Mexico, Poplar Bluff, Sikeston, and Trenton.  The most 
recent ten DREAM communities designated in 2008 were:  Boonville, Farmington, Fulton, Lamar, 
Lebanon, Louisiana, Macon, Strafford, Warrensburg and Webb City.  DREAM communities receive 
significant downtown redevelopment, research, planning and capital assistance over a three year period. 
 
In December 2008, the Board approved $25 million in tax credits to the Jackson County Sports 
Authority to leverage $50 million in contributions.  The contributions and proceeds from the sale of tax 
credits will be used for common area infrastructure improvements and other stadium improvements at 
Arrowhead.  Another major component of this authorization is that the Chiefs will donate $10 million 
to Missouri Western State University for an indoor events and football training facility on its campus. 
 
During fiscal year 2009, the Board approved six conduit bond issuances totaling $122 million for the 
City of Independence.  Four of these issuances resulting in $73 million will fund the construction of the 
Multi-Purpose Events Center located at the southeast corner of Interstates 70 and 470.  The Events 
Center will be used for Central Hockey League team play and capable of hosting sporting, civic and 
entertainment events.  The two other bond issuances include funds for Electric and Water Utilities 
Capital Improvements.  Improvements comprise extensive electrical repairs to two 50-year old 
generating facilities and maintenance for transmission and distribution of power to its customers.  The 
Water Utility improvements include maintenance and distribution work as well as a new transmission 
line and extension to serve the Little Blue Valley area and eastern Independence.   
 
The Nelson Gallery Foundation issued $108.5 million in conduit Cultural Facility Bonds through the 
Board.  These refunded bonds, authorized in July 2008, were used to finance construction of the Bloch 
building and renovations to the original 1933 building.  Total project costs were $220 million. 
 
In November 2008, the Board authorized the issuance of $154 million in conduit refunding bonds to the 
MasterCard International, LLC.  These Taxable Industrial Development Refunding Bonds allowed 
MasterCard the opportunity to exercise its option to refund previously issued bonds in order to 
streamline the financing structure and eliminate previously executed subleases.  The original issuance 
was to fund construction of office space and a data and energy center in O’Fallon, as well as provide 
capital for equipment acquisition for existing MasterCard operations.   
 
During fiscal year 2009, the Board authorized three and closed four BUILD Bond issuances.  These 
include Kerry, Inc., EnerSys Energy Products, Inc., Orgill, Inc. and Edward D. Jones & Co.  Kerry, Inc. 
expects to create 150 new jobs in Affton.  EnerSys Energy Products located in Warrensburg plans to 
add 180 new jobs to their 578 existing jobs.  Orgill expects to add 274 new jobs in Sikeston, and 
Edward Jones expects to add no less than 500 new jobs through December 2011 in St. Louis County.  
Total investment from these four issuances alone will bring more than $390 million in new investment 
to Missouri. 
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The Board continues its work in small communities through the DREAM initiative, MIDOC loan 
program, the Downtown Revitalization Tax Credit for Contribution program and the conduit bond 
issuance program through the Missouri Association of Municipal Utilities (MAMU).   
 
Significant Events for Next Year  
 
In the coming fiscal year: 
 
In early fiscal year 2010, SMI-NSG, LLC will open Culnaria, an urban concept grocery store in the 
Ninth Street Garage retail space.  
 
In August 2009, the United Way exercised its option to purchase the renovated historic hotel in 
downtown Kansas City from the Board.  The United Way had a 20-year lease with the Board for this 
building and the purchase option was part of the original agreement.  
 
In early fiscal year 2010, the State of Missouri acting through the Office of Administration, per the 
contract terms, reduced its monthly parking spaces at the Ninth Street Garage (NSG) by 327 spaces.  
This decrease in daily parkers is an annual reduction in revenues of $428,000. 
 
The Board continues its work with the Three Trails Redevelopment Tax Credit for Contribution project.  
The project was awarded $30 million to be used in three calendar years. 
 
The Board is also working with the St. Louis Port Authority and St. Louis County to construct an office 
and storage building to keep over 700 federal agency employees working in Missouri for the National 
Archives Records Administration.   
 
The Board has at least three other BUILD bond issues likely to close in the next year.  The Department 
of Economic Development has proposal letters out on an additional 13 projects under the BUILD 
program.   
 
The Board will continue to assist in St. Louis in its efforts to renovate the old Cardinal Ballpark site 
through the Ballpark Village MODESA project.   
 
During Fiscal Year 2010, the Board will transfer funds to the Small Business Revolving Loan Program 
and will extend loans to small businesses throughout the State of Missouri. 
 
The Board is currently investigating the opportunity to construct another parking garage in downtown 
St. Louis.   
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Missouri Development Finance 
Board’s finances for all those with an interest in the Board’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed 
to the Missouri Development Finance Board, Controller, P. O. Box 567, 200 Madison, Suite 1000, 
Jefferson City, Missouri 65102. 
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

Industrial Infrastructure
Development Development Total

 and Reserve Parking Garage (Revolving Loan) Business-Type
Fund Fund Fund Activities

ASSETS

5,903,581$             2,838,999$             1,103,979$             9,846,559$             
29,083,427             2,504,309               -                             31,587,736             

-                             -                             2,000,000               2,000,000               
179,916                  -                             158,804                  338,720                  
128,246                  389                         -                             128,635                  

7,447                      -                             20,519                    27,966                    
218,097                  45,139                    -                             263,236                  

35,520,714             5,388,836               3,283,302               44,192,852             

9,130,167               1,301,632               -                             10,431,799             
10,542,469             -                             1,325,772               11,868,241             

                              -                7,219,739 -                             7,219,739               
1,269,734               42,430,288             -                             43,700,022             

20,942,370             50,951,659             1,325,772               73,219,801             

56,463,084$           56,340,495$           4,609,074$             117,412,653$         

LIABILITIES 

1,951,080$             34,325$                  -$                           1,985,405$             
2,000,000               -                             -                             2,000,000               

-                             13,858                    -                             13,858                    
-                             240,000                  -                             240,000                  

3,951,080               288,183                  -                             4,239,263               

-                             30,610,000             -                             30,610,000             
Payable from restricted assets:

Tax credit for contribution and other deposits 7,630,167               -                             -                             7,630,167               

7,630,167               30,610,000             -                             38,240,167             

Total liabilities 11,581,247             30,898,183             -                             42,479,430             

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,269,734               18,800,027             -                             20,069,761             
Restricted:

Tax credit and second loss reserves 1,500,000               -                             -                             1,500,000               
Project accounts -                             1,301,632               -                             1,301,632               

Unrestricted 42,112,103             5,340,653               4,609,074               52,061,830             

44,881,837             25,442,312             4,609,074               74,933,223             

56,463,084$           56,340,495$           4,609,074$             117,412,653$         

NET ASSETS

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

Long-term debt

Total noncurrent liabilities

Due to other funds
Accrued bond interest payable

Long-term portion of loans and notes receivable

Assets not being depreciated

Current portion of long-term debt payable

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities

Total noncurrent assets

Total current liabilities

Total assets

Assets being depreciated, net

Noncurrent liabilities:

Current assets:

Current liabilities:

Investments 

Total current assets

Capital assets:

Accrued interest on loans and notes receivable

Due from other funds

Restricted assets

Prepaid expense and other assets

Noncurrent assets:

Accrued interest on investments
Current portion of loans and notes receivable

Cash



The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
14 

 

MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 

JUNE 30, 2008 

Industrial Infrastructure
Development Development Total

 and Reserve Parking Garage (Revolving Loan) Business-Type
Fund Fund Fund Activities

ASSETS

604,815$                1,007,055$             504,101$                2,115,971$             
30,791,168             2,463,104               493,513                  33,747,785             

125,000                  -                             154,091                  279,091                  
149,519                  5,618                      5,700                      160,837                  
62,971                    -                             15,166                    78,137                    
94,707                    55,456                    -                             150,163                  

31,828,180             3,531,233               1,172,570               36,531,983             

1,064,716               -                             -                             1,064,716               
24,278,999             2,719,562               -                             26,998,561             
4,564,207               -                             1,460,751               6,024,958               

.
                              -                7,219,739 -                             7,219,739               

1,348,801               43,603,116             -                             44,951,917             
31,256,723             53,542,417             1,460,751               86,259,891             

63,084,903$           57,073,650$           2,633,321$             122,791,874$         

LIABILITIES 

480,768$                -$                           -$                           480,768$                
-                             49,170                    -                             49,170                    
-                             240,000                  -                             240,000                  

480,768                  289,170                  -                             769,938                  

-                             31,610,000             -                             31,610,000             
Payable from restricted assets:

Tax credit for contribution and other deposits 21,203,714             -                             -                             21,203,714             

21,203,714             31,610,000             -                             52,813,714             

Total liabilities 21,684,482             31,899,170             -                             53,583,652             

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,348,801               18,972,855             -                             20,321,656             
Restricted:

Tax credit and second loss reserves 1,500,000               -                             -                             1,500,000               
Project accounts 1,575,285               2,719,562               -                             4,294,847               

Unrestricted 36,976,335             3,482,063               2,633,321               43,091,719             

41,400,421             25,174,480             2,633,321               69,208,222             

63,084,903$           57,073,650$           2,633,321$             122,791,874$         

Current assets:
Cash
Investments 
Current portion of loans and notes receivable
Accrued interest on investments
Accrued interest on loans and notes receivable
Prepaid expense and other assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Board designated investment
Restricted assets
Long-term portion of loans and notes receivable
Capital assets:

Assets not being depreciated
Assets being depreciated, net

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accrued bond interest payable
Current portion of long-term debt payable

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities and net assets

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt

Total noncurrent liabilities

NET ASSETS

Total net assets
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

 
Industrial Infrastructure

Development Development Total
and Reserve Parking Garage (Revolving Loan) Business-Type

Fund Fund Fund Activities

OPERATING REVENUES:
Participation fees 2,475,963$             -$                           -$                           2,475,963$             
Interest income on loans and notes receivable 112,392                  -                             48,445                    160,837                  
Rental income 25,008                    -                             -                             25,008                    
Contractual income 77,210                    -                             -                             77,210                    
DREAM revenue 873,330                  -                             -                             873,330                  
Other income 43,362                    -                             -                             43,362                    
Parking garage revenues -                             3,080,901               -                             3,080,901               

Total operating revenues 3,607,265               3,080,901               48,445                    6,736,611               

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personnel services 786,596                  -                             -                             786,596                  
Professional fees 396,713                  93,455                    -                             490,168                  
Travel 67,536                    -                             -                             67,536                    
Supplies and other 113,348                  -                             -                             113,348                  
Depreciation and amortization 85,435                    1,194,208               -                             1,279,643               
Parking garage operating expenses -                             1,032,951               -                             1,032,951               
DREAM expense 1,856,262               -                             -                             1,856,262               
Bad debt expense -                             -                             80,001                    80,001                    
Miscellaneous 70,114                    3,096                      -                             73,210                    

Total operating expenses 3,376,004               2,323,710               80,001                    5,779,715               

Operating income (loss) before adjustment 
to allowance for notes receivable 231,261                  757,191                  (31,556)                  956,896                  

Adjustment to allowance for notes receivable 6,114,405               -                             -                             6,114,405               

Operating income (loss) 6,345,666               757,191                  (31,556)                  7,071,301               

NON-OPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE):
Interest on cash and investments 1,078,514               45,969                    7,309                      1,131,792               
Bond interest expense -                             (517,121)                -                             (517,121)                
Bond expense -                             (360,971)                -                             (360,971)                
Contributions to others (1,600,000)             -                             -                             (1,600,000)             

Total non-operating revenue (expense) (521,486)                (832,123)                7,309                      (1,346,300)             
Income (loss) before interfund transfers 5,824,180               (74,932)                  (24,247)                  5,725,001               

INTERFUND TRANSFERS (2,342,764)             342,764 2,000,000               -                             

Change in net assets 3,481,416               267,832                  1,975,753               5,725,001               

Total net assets - beginning 41,400,421                          25,174,480 2,633,321               69,208,222             

Total net assets - ending 44,881,837$           25,442,312$           4,609,074$             74,933,223$           



The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008 
 

Industrial Infrastructure
Development Development Total
and Reserve Parking Garage (Revolving Loan) Business-Type

Fund Fund Fund Activities

OPERATING REVENUES:
Participation fees 3,075,419$             -$                           -$                           3,075,419$             
Interest income on loans and notes receivable 266,310                  -                             50,476                    316,786                  
Rental income 25,008                    -                             -                             25,008                    
Contractual income 75,990                    -                             -                             75,990                    
DREAM revenue 809,894                  -                             -                             809,894                  
Other income 278,596                  -                             33,132                    311,728                  
Parking garage revenues -                             3,623,164               -                             3,623,164               

Total operating revenues 4,531,217               3,623,164               83,608                    8,237,989               

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personnel services 658,415                  -                             -                             658,415                  
Professional fees 155,086                  -                             -                             155,086                  
Travel 70,355                    -                             -                             70,355                    
Supplies and other 109,176                  -                             -                             109,176                  
Depreciation and amortization 86,666                    1,405,543               -                             1,492,209               
Parking garage operating expenses -                             1,348,926               -                             1,348,926               
DREAM expense 1,501,079               -                             -                             1,501,079               
Bad debt expense 105,929                  -                             -                             105,929                  
Miscellaneous 17,144                    3,003                      -                             20,147                    

Total operating expenses 2,703,850               2,757,472               -                             5,461,322               

Operating income (loss) 1,827,367               865,692                  83,608                    2,776,667               

NON-OPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE):
Interest on cash and investments 2,355,576               156,541                  21,609                    2,533,726               
Bond interest expense -                             (1,075,534)             -                             (1,075,534)             
Bond expense -                             (367,358)                -                             (367,358)                
Contributions to others (950,000)                (9,763,892)             -                             (10,713,892)           

Total non-operating revenue (expense) 1,405,576               (11,050,242)           21,609                    (9,623,057)             

Change in net assets 3,232,943               (10,184,551)           105,217                  (6,846,391)             

Total net assets - beginning 38,167,478                          35,359,031 2,528,104               76,054,613             

Total net assets - ending 41,400,421$           25,174,480$           2,633,321$             69,208,222$           



The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Industrial
Development Infrastructure Total
and Reserve Parking Garage Development Business-Type

Fund Fund Fund Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users 2,164,420$             3,080,901$             43,092$                  5,288,413$             
Receipts for tax credit projects* 37,537,147             -                         -                         37,537,147             
Payments to suppliers (2,361,808)             (1,084,861)             -                         (3,446,669)             
Payments to tax credit projects (49,612,325)           -                         -                         (49,612,325)           
Payments to employees (786,596)                -                         -                         (786,596)                

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (13,059,162)           1,996,040               43,092                    (11,020,030)           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loans and notes receivable principal payments 324,866                  -                         150,265                  475,131                  
Loans and notes receivable issued (243,639)                -                         (100,000)                (343,639)                
Cash donations to others (423,170)                -                         -                         (423,170)                
Interfund transfers (342,764)                342,764                  -                         -                         

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities (684,707)                342,764                  50,265                    (291,678)                

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bond principal paid -                         (1,000,000)             -                         (1,000,000)             
Bond expense and interest paid -                         (913,404)                -                         (913,404)                
Acquisition of buildings and equipment (6,368)                    (21,377)                  -                         (27,745)                  

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related
 financing activities (6,368)                    (1,934,781)             -                         (1,941,149)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investments (27,249,418)           -                         (500,075)                (27,749,493)           
Maturities of investments 41,530,151             -                         993,587                  42,523,738             
Interest on cash and investments 1,127,932               51,195                    13,009                    1,192,136               

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 15,408,665             51,195                    506,521                  15,966,381             

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,658,428               455,218                  599,878                  2,713,524               

Cash and cash equivalents - July 1 26,682,384             6,189,722               504,101                  33,376,207             

Cash and cash equivalents - June 30 28,340,812$           6,644,940$             1,103,979$             36,089,731$           

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used)
  by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) 6,345,666$             757,191$                (31,556)$                7,071,301$             

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
  provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expenses 85,435                    1,194,208               -                         1,279,643               
Adjustment to allowance for notes receivable (6,114,405)             -                         -                         (6,114,405)             
Increase (decrease) in allowance for bad debt -                         -                         80,001                    80,001                    
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest on loans 

and notes receivable 55,524                    -                         (5,353)                    50,171                    
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (123,390)                10,316                    -                         (113,074)                
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 293,482                  34,325                    -                         327,807                  
Increase (decrease) in tax credit for contribution deposits (13,573,547)           -                         -                         (13,573,547)           
Increase (decrease) in deferred charges (27,927)                  -                         -                         (27,927)                  

Total adjustments (19,404,828)           1,238,849               74,648                    (18,091,331)           

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (13,059,162)$         1,996,040$             43,092$                  (11,020,030)$         

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the statement of net assets
Cash 5,903,581$             2,838,999$             1,103,979$             9,846,559$             
Investments 29,083,427             2,504,309               -                         31,587,736             

Less:  Portion maturing in 90 days or more (14,267,395)           -                         -                         (14,267,395)           
Less:  Portion attributable to accrued interest (8,968)                    -                         -                         (8,968)                    

Restricted assets 9,130,167               1,301,632               -                         10,431,799             
Less:  Portion maturing in 90 days or more (1,500,000)             -                         -                         (1,500,000)             

Total cash and cash equivalents 28,340,812$           6,644,940$             1,103,979$             36,089,731$           

Non cash transaction
Tax credit projects contributions and subsequent distributions of land 440,000$                -$                       -$                       440,000$                



The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
18 

 

MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2008 

Industrial
Development Infrastructure Total
and Reserve Parking Garage Development Business-Type

Fund Fund Fund Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users 2,148,839$             3,623,164$             63,660$                  5,835,663$             
Receipts for tax credit projects 64,372,301             -                         -                         64,372,301             
Payments to suppliers (1,750,509)             (1,390,710)             -                         (3,141,219)             
Payments to tax credit projects (84,057,087)           -                         -                         (84,057,087)           
Payments to employees (658,415)                -                         -                         (658,414)                

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (19,944,871)           2,232,454               63,660                    (17,648,756)           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loans and notes receivable principal payments 3,467,929               -                         657,176                  4,125,105               
Loans and notes receivable issued (153,520)                -                         (100,000)                (253,520)                
Cash donations to others (950,000)                -                         -                         (950,000)                

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities 2,364,409               -                         557,176                  2,921,585               

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bond expense and interest paid -                         (1,335,013)             -                         (1,335,013)             
Cash received from asset contribution -                         409,870                  -                         409,870                  
Acquisition of buildings and equipment (31,380)                  (1,394,484)             -                         (1,425,864)             

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related
 financing activities (31,380)                  (2,319,627)             -                         (2,351,007)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investments (91,804,351)           -                         (989,690)                (92,794,041)           
Maturities of investments 106,935,749           2,506,537               496,178                  109,938,464           
Interest on cash and investments 2,745,068               156,541                  15,910                    2,917,519               

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 17,876,466             2,663,078               (477,603)                20,061,942             

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 264,624                  2,575,905               143,234                  2,983,763               

Cash and cash equivalents - July 1 26,417,760             3,613,817               360,867                  30,392,444             

Cash and cash equivalents - June 30 26,682,384$           6,189,722$             504,101$                33,376,207$           

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used)
  by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) 1,827,369$             684,083$                83,608$                  2,595,060$             

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
  provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expenses 86,666                    1,405,543               -                         1,492,209               
Cash donations to others -                         -                         -                         -                         
Increase (decrease) in allowance for bad debt -                         -                         (33,132)                  (33,132)                  
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest on loans 

and notes receivable 60,978                    -                         13,184                    74,162                    
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 4,134                      245,277                  249,411                  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 202,069                  (102,448)                -                         99,621                    
Increase (decrease) in tax credit for contribution deposits (22,128,119)           -                         -                         (22,128,119)           
Increase (decrease) in debt service reserve -                         -                         -                         -                         
Increase (decrease) in deferred charges 2,033                      -                         -                         2,033                      

Total adjustments (21,772,240)           1,548,371               (19,948)                  (20,243,815)           

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (19,944,871)$         2,232,454$             63,660$                  (17,648,755)$         

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the statement of net assets
Cash 604,815$                1,007,055$             504,101$                2,115,971$             
Investments 30,791,168             2,463,104               493,513                  33,747,785             

Less:  Portion maturing in 90 days or more (17,541,892)           -                         (493,513)                (18,035,404)           
Less:  Portion attributable to accrued interest (9,874)                    -                         -                         (9,874)                    

Board designated investment 1,064,716               -                         -                         1,064,716               
Less:  Portion maturing in 90 days or more (5,067)                    -                         -                         (5,067)                    

Restricted assets 24,278,999             2,719,562               -                         26,998,561             
Less:  Portion maturing in 90 days or more (12,500,185)           -                         -                         (12,500,185)           
Less:  Portion attributable to accrued interest (296)                       -                         -                         (296)                       

Total cash and cash equivalents 26,682,384$           6,189,722$             504,101$                33,376,207$           
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1. FINANCIAL REPORTING ENTITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

 
(a) Financial Reporting Entity 
 

The Missouri Development Finance Board (the Board), was created by Sections 100.250 to 
100.297 of the Revised Statues of Missouri (RSMo), as a body corporate and politic of the 
State of Missouri created within the Department of Economic Development.  The Board is 
governed by a twelve-member Board.  The Governor of the State of Missouri (the State), with 
the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints eight of the Board members.  The remaining four 
Board members are the Lieutenant Governor, Director of the Department of Economic 
Development, Director of the Department of Agriculture and Director of the Department of 
Natural Resources.  
 
The Board is a discretely presented component unit of the State of Missouri as defined by 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial 
Reporting Entity.  Based on GASB 14, the accompanying combined financial statements 
include only those operations related to the Board and are not intended to present fairly the 
financial position and results of operations of the State.   
 
The Board is empowered to issue bonds or notes, provide loans or loan guarantees, provide 
loans and grants to political subdivisions to fund public infrastructure improvements, and to 
issue Missouri tax credits for approved projects.  The Board also has other authorized powers 
under state statute, including the ability to acquire, own, improve, and use real and personal 
property such as parking garages and buildings.   
 
The Board has one discretely presented component unit as defined by Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity: The 
Missouri Community Investment Corporation (MCIC).  The Board members of the Missouri 
Development Finance Board and five additional members serve as the Board for MCIC.  MCIC 
is a non-profit organization established for the primary purpose to serve as a qualified 
community development entity (CDE) providing investment capital for the benefit of Low-
Income Communities and Low-Income Persons within the State of Missouri in connection with 
the New Market Tax Credit program established pursuant to Section 45D of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 as amended.  MCIC was inactive during fiscal year 2009 and 2008 and 
thus has been omitted from presentation in the financial statements.   
 

(b) Basis of Presentation 
 

The accounts of the Board are organized on the basis of funds.  The Board accounts for its 
activities as Enterprise Funds, a type of Proprietary Fund.  Proprietary Funds are used to 
account for ongoing activities that are similar to activities found in the private sector.  The 
measurement focus is upon determination of net income.    
 
Specifically, Enterprise Funds account for operations that provide a service to citizens that are 
financed primarily by a user charge for the provision of that service.  Enterprise Funds also 
account for activities where the periodic measurement of net income is deemed appropriate for 
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.  The 
Board has three active and three inactive Enterprise Funds.  
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Each fund is considered a separate accounting entity with self-balancing accounts that comprise 
its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenses.  The Board’s active funds are as 
follows: 
 
• Industrial Development and Reserve Fund — The Industrial Development and Reserve 

Fund was established in 1982 by Section 100.260 RSMo (as amended).  At inception, the 
Board was funded by appropriations from the State General Revenue Fund.  However, 
currently the Board’s primary source of funds is from other sources as specified by the 
RSMo.  Funds may be used to make eligible direct loans or may be pledged as loan, note, 
or bond guarantees.  RSMo (Sections 33.080 and 100.260) provide that if funds are 
appropriated by the general assembly for this fund, they shall not lapse and the balance 
shall not be transferred to the General Revenue Fund – State.  This fund also includes 
activity related to the Old Post Office (OPO) project, the DREAM initiative and building 
leasing operations. 

 
• Parking Garage Fund — The Parking Garage Fund was established in 2003 by the Board to 

account for the construction and ongoing operations of three parking garages.  The three 
garages are as follows:  St. Louis Convention Center Hotel Garage (SLCCHG), Ninth 
Street Garage (NSG) supporting the OPO redevelopment project in St. Louis, and the 
Kansas City Public Library Garage (KCLG).  The Board is the sole owner of these garages. 
SLCCHG was placed in service during 2003, the KCLG was placed in service during 2004, 
and the NSG was placed in service in 2006.  The KCLG was contributed to the Kansas City 
Urban Library District in 2008 and has no activity in 2009. 

 
• Infrastructure Development Fund — The Infrastructure Development Fund was established 

in 1988 by Section 100.263 RSMo, as amended, and is funded by appropriations from the 
State General Fund or from various other sources as specified by the RSMo.  Funds may be 
used to make low-interest or interest-free loans, and loan guarantees to local political 
subdivisions and state agencies.   

 
The inactive funds are the Industrial Development Guarantee Fund, Export Finance Fund, and 
the Jobs Now Fund. 
 
The Board has one discretely presented component unit:   
 
• Missouri Community Investment Corporation (MCIC) — MCIC is the Board’s only 

discretely presented component unit.  This not-for profit corporation was established to 
further the Board’s mission by applying for Federal New Market Tax Credits (NMTC).   
MCIC was notified in October 2007 that it did not receive a NMTC allocation; it will 
remain inactive until an allocation is received. 

 
(c) Method of Accounting 
 

The economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting are utilized for 
all Board funds.  Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when 
incurred. 

 
Application fees and issuance fees are recognized as participation fees on the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets.  The Board recognizes revenue on 
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application fees when received since the fees are due upon application and are nonrefundable.  
The Board recognizes revenue on issuance fees at the time of the issuance of the related bonds 
since, until actual issuance, the amount or the certainty of receiving the issuance fee is not 
determinable.  Expenses related to bond issuance are recognized when incurred, as there is no 
reasonable method of allocating the expenses to issuance revenues because of the previously 
mentioned uncertainties. 
 
Contributions received for tax credits on behalf of other entities are treated as conduit 
transactions, with the amount of unspent contributions recorded as a liability.  Contributions 
received for tax credits on behalf of the Board’s projects are recorded as contributed revenue 
when all applicable eligibility requirements have been met, which is determined on a project-
by-project basis. 
 
The Board applies all Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and 
Interpretations issued on or before November 30, 1989, and all Accounting Principles Board 
(APB) Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins (ARB), except for those that conflict with 
or contradict GASB pronouncements.  FASB Statements and Interpretations issued subsequent 
to November 30, 1989, are not applied. 
 

(d) Investments 
 

The Board has the power to invest in obligations of the United States or its agencies, insured or 
secured certificates of deposits, secured repurchase agreements, and state or political 
subdivisions obligations with the two highest credit rating categories.  Investments are carried 
at fair value based on quoted market prices. 
 

(e) Loans and Allowance for Loan Loss  
 

Loans are stated at the amount of unpaid principal, adjusted by an allowance for loan losses.  
The Board’s loans are made to not-for-profit entities and political subdivisions.  In many cases, 
the repayment terms and collateral, if any, are much less stringent than typical financial 
institution loans due to the nature of the Board’s mission. The allowance for loan losses is 
established through a provision for loan losses charged to expense.  Loans are charged against 
the allowance for loan losses when management believes that the collectability of the principal 
is unlikely.   
 
The allowance is an amount that management believes will be adequate to absorb possible 
losses on existing loans that may become uncollectible, based on evaluation of the collectability 
of loans, prior loan loss experience or when the net present value of estimated future cash flows 
on the loan or fair value of collateral is less than the recorded value of the loan (computed on a 
loan-by-loan basis).  
 

(f) Loans and Allowance for Uncollectible Interest 
 
Interest is accrued on loans as it is earned.  The unpaid portion is included in accrued interest 
on loans and notes receivable.   
 
Base interest of 0.5% is paid monthly on the outstanding balance on the loan on the Old Post 
Office (OPO).  The loan allows for an additional .05% of interest once the OPO meets certain 
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cash flow levels.  Due to a reevaluation of the required reserves under the Federal New Market 
Tax Credit Program, it is anticipated that the OPO will meet such cash flow projections and the 
Board will begin to collect the additional .05% during fiscal year 2010. 
 

(g) Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which consist of land, building and equipment, are stated at cost.  Contributions 
of capital assets are recorded at fair market value at the time received.  Capital assets are 
defined by the Board as assets with an individual cost of more than $500 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year.  Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful 
lives using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
 Buildings  40 years 

    Façade      39 years 
    Leasehold Improvements  10 years 

 Equipment  3 – 5 years 
 
It is the Board’s policy to capitalize interest on debt incurred to finance the construction of 
capital assets, when material.  The Board had no capital construction projects in progress for 
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2009 or 2008.   
 

(h) Compensated Absences 
 

Under the terms of the Board’s personnel policy, Board employees are granted vacation, 
personal days, sick, and compensatory leave in varying amounts.  In the event of termination, 
an employee is paid for accumulated vacation, personal days, and compensatory hours.  
Employees are not paid for accumulated sick leave upon termination.  The amounts of accrued 
vacation, personal days, and compensatory hours are included as a current liability in the 
accompanying combined financial statements.  The costs of sick leave are not accrued. 
 

(i) Participation Fees 
 

The Board receives participation fees on certain direct loans, loan guarantees, bonds, and tax 
credit contributions.  Direct infrastructure loans are made to local governmental entities for 
public infrastructure needs.  A $750 fee is assessed for the direct infrastructure loans to cover 
legal counsel costs. 
 
Bond application fees are 0.1% of the amount of issuance limited to a minimum of $500 and a 
maximum of $2,500.   
 
The issuance fee for private bonds is .30% and public activity bonds is .25% on the first 
$25,000,000 and .10% thereafter.  Total fees on both types of issuances are not to exceed 
$75,000 for a single issue or multiple series under a single issue.  For State Agency bonds, the 
issuance fee is on a scale ranging from .10% to .20%, not to exceed $75,000 for a single issue 
or multiple series under a single issue. 
 
BUILD Missouri (Business Use Incentives for Large-Scale Development) application fees are 
$1,000 and non-refundable.  The issuance fee is assessed as 2.5% of the bond principal with an 
annual fee of 0.5% of the principal portion outstanding at each anniversary date.  The fee to 
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cover legal counsel costs is 0.6% of bond principal with a minimum of $7,500, plus out of 
pocket expenses. 
 
Participation fees for the tax credit for contribution program are 4% of all contributions. 

 
(j) Issuance of Conduit Bonds 

 
All of the bonds issued by the Board, with the exception of the long-term debt issued for the St. 
Louis Convention Center Hotel Garage (SLCCHG) and the Ninth Street Garage (NSG) projects 
(see Note 8), are conduit obligations.  Conduit obligations are special, limited obligations of the 
Board and the assets of the Board are not pledged to secure such bonds.  The borrower pays all 
debt service requirements.  The bonds do not constitute an obligation of the Board or the State.  
See Note 13 to the financial statements for further information. 
 

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents for the combined statements of cash flows include cash, certificates 
of deposit, and short-term investments with original maturities of ninety days or less. 

 
(l)  Net Assets 
 

Equity is categorized in the statement of net assets as invested in capital assets net of related 
debt, restricted, and unrestricted.  Restricted net assets consist of net assets that are legally 
restricted by outside parties or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, generally it is the Board’s 
policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted net assets when they are needed.  
Unrestricted net assets consist of net assets not invested in capital assets that do not meet the 
definition of “restricted.” 
 

(m) Classification of Operating, Non-operating, and Contributed Revenue 
 

The Board has classified its revenues as operating, non-operating, or contributed revenues 
according to the following criteria: 
 
 Operating revenues — Include revenue sources related to the basic purpose of the 

Board and include interest income on loans and fees and charges for services. 
 
 Non-operating revenues — Include revenue sources unrelated to the basic purpose of 

the Board and include interest income on deposits and investments. 
  
 Contributed revenues — Include revenue related to the contributions for tax credit 

program authorized under state statute and received for Board-owned projects.  
 

(n) Classification of Operating and Non-operating Expenses 
 
The Board has classified its expenses as operating and non-operating according to the following 
criteria: 
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 Operating expenses — Include expenses related to the basic purpose of the Board and 
include administrative expenses, costs associated with carrying out Board programs, 
depreciation, and bad debt expenses. 

 
 Non-operating expenses — Include expenses related and unrelated to the basic purpose 

of the Board.  May include expenses related to the basic purpose of the Board when 
such expenses are financial in nature such as bond and interest expenses. 

  
(o) Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue 
and expense during the reporting period.  Estimates are used for, but not limited to, provisions 
for loan losses; asset impairment; depreciable lives of capital assets and fair value of financial 
instruments.  The Board is subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events, 
economic, environmental and political factors, and changes in the business climate; therefore, 
actual results may differ from those estimates.   
 
Accordingly, the accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Board’s financial 
statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional 
information is obtained and as the Board’s operating environment changes.  Changes in 
estimates are made when circumstances warrant.  Such changes and refinements in estimation 
methodologies are reflected in reported results of operations; if material, the effects of changes 
in estimates are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  Accordingly, actual results 
may differ from those estimates. 
 
 

2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
As of June 30, 2009 and 2008, the Board had the following investments:   
 

Weighted Weighted
Carrying Average Carrying Average

Investment type: Value Maturity Value Maturity
U.S. Treasuries  $  1,000,000 0.2500  $  1,000,000 0.1250
U.S. Government Bonds        500,000 0.6167        500,000 0.6167
U.S. Government Agency Discount Notes    14,267,395 1.2009    33,903,442 0.2890
Overnight Repurchase Agreements      4,258,180 0.0028        562,279 0.0028
Funds held by trustee:

Fidelity US Treasury Money Market Fund      1,450,010 n/a      1,447,921 n/a

Total Fair Value  $21,475,585  $37,413,641 

2009 2008
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Interest rate risk – In accordance with its investment policy, the Board manages its exposure to 
declines in fair values by only investing in obligations that return initial purchase prices and the 
earned interest. This practice eliminates exposure to declines in fair values. 
 
Credit risk – The Board’s policy is to only invest in obligations of the United States or its agencies, 
insured or secured certificates of deposits, secured repurchase agreements, and state or political 
subdivision obligations with the two highest credit ratings issued by nationally recognized 
statistical rating organizations (NRSROs).  Policy prohibits the purchase of any investments that do 
not meet the above mentioned criteria.  As of June 30, 2009 and 2008, all of the Board’s 
investments were rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s and Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service.  The 
Board does not hold corporate bonds and does not participate in investment pools. 
 
Concentration of credit risk – Due to the unusually conservative nature of the Board’s investment 
policy, the Board is not at risk due to concentration.   
 
Custodial credit risk – investments – For an investment, this is the risk that in the event of the 
failure of the counterparty, the Board will not be able to recover the value of its investments.  As of 
June 30, 2009 and 2008, there is no custodial credit risk for the Board’s investments due to the 
Board’s investment policy which prohibits obligations not fully secured. 
 
Custodial credit risk – deposits – In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank 
failure, the Board’s deposits may not be returned to it.  As of June 30, 2009 and 2008, the Board’s 
deposits were fully covered by FDIC insurance and government-backed securities. 
 
As required by Missouri law, the depository banks pledge securities, in addition to the Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation insurance, to equal or exceed the amount on deposit at all times. 
As of June 30, 2009, securities with a total fair value of $41,317,841 are held in a joint custody 
account with the Federal Reserve Bank.  As of June 30, 2008, securities with a total fair value of 
$39,583,462 were held in a joint custody account with the Federal Reserve Bank.  

 
As of June 30, 2009 and 2008, the Board’s deposits were collateralized as follows:   

 
 
 

 
 

2009 2008
Insured by the FDIC 3,791,172$         475,907$           
Collateralized with securities pledged by the financial institutions 26,586,446         25,999,718         
Amount not collateralized -                       -                       

Total deposits 30,377,618$       26,475,625$       
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The Board’s total cash and investments as of June 30, 2009 and 2008 are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3. DUE TO/DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS 

 
During fiscal year 2009, Governor Jeremiah W. (Jay) Nixon issued Executive Order 09-03 to create 
a small business loan pool of $2,000,000 in funds.  The Board capitalized this loan pool from the 
Industrial Development and Reserve Fund but will record program activity in the Revolving Loan 
Fund.  Therefore, a transfer of $2,000,000 was recorded between the two funds, which are shown as 
a due to and due from between funds on the Statement of Net Assets at June 30, 2009.   
 
 

4. LOANS, NOTES RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES 
 

Direct loans through the Industrial Development and Reserve Fund represent loans to individual 
companies and political subdivisions in Missouri.  Direct loans through the Infrastructure 
Development Fund represents three percent loans made to local political subdivisions. 
 
For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 and 2008, the allowance for loan losses was $6,761,237 
and $12,795,642, respectively. During fiscal year 2009, the allowance for loan losses was adjusted 
from $12,795,642 down to $6,761,237.  The largest adjustment is attributable to the reevaluation of 
the Old Post Office (the “OPO”) loan.  The new estimate was based upon current rent levels and 
conditions and resulted in a reduction of the allowance in the amount of $5,919,211.  This decrease 
in the allowance was offset to operating income as Adjustment to allowance for notes receivable.  
In addition, the Board collected an installment on the American Fish and Wildlife Loan and 
recorded an offset of $195,194 in principle received.  These decreases were offset by an increase in 
the allowance for loan losses on MIDOC loans receivable in the amount of $80,000.  During fiscal 
year 2008, the allowance for loan losses was increased and bad debt expense was recognized in the 
amount of $105,929. 
 

2009 2008
U.S. government and agency securities from above 21,475,585$       37,413,641$       
Cash deposits from above 30,377,618         26,475,625         
Accrued interest not included above 141,526             198,604             

Total cash and investments 51,994,729$       64,087,870$       

As reflected on the statement of net assets:
Cash 9,846,559$         2,115,971$         
Investments 31,587,736         33,747,785         
Accrued interest 128,635             160,837             
Board designated investment -                       1,064,716           
Restricted assets 10,431,799         26,998,561         

Total cash and investments 51,994,729$       64,087,870$       
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Loans and notes receivable at June 30, 2009 and 2008, are as follows: 
 

 
5. RESTRICTED ASSETS 
 

In June 1999, December 2003, and April 2004, the Board placed unrestricted Board funds of 
$500,000 into Second Loss Debt Service Reserve Funds for each of its three infrastructure bonds, 
for a total of $1,500,000.    
 
In October 2004, the Board issued $16,500,000 of bonds to fund the construction of the Ninth 
Street garage associated with the Old Post Office Building renovation.  The Board was required to 
deposit $1,501,000 in a cash collateral account for the OPO project.  Any investment earnings on 
the balance outstanding are credited to the Industrial Development and Reserve Fund.  During 
fiscal year 2009, the Board was released from this obligation. 
 
Contributions received for tax credits on behalf of other entities are treated as conduit transactions, 
with the amount of unspent contributions recorded as restricted cash with a corresponding liability.   
 
In December 2000, the Board issued $39,555,000 of bonds to fund a loan for the St. Louis 
Conference Center Hotel and land and construction costs for the hotel’s parking garage.  The 
restricted assets held for this project as of June 30, 2009 and 2008, are reserved as a contingency for 
the garage portion of the project, for a total of $0 and $1,420,023, respectively. 
 
Ninth Street Garage construction and reserve deposits account for the $1,100,000 in funds to be 
paid to SMI-NSG, LLC for tenant improvements to the Ninth Street Garage retail space.  The 
remaining balance is held in order to satisfy a covenant with Bank of America to have a refinance 
reserve of no less than $200,000. 
 

Current Long-term Current Long-term
Industrial Development

and Reserve Fund  $      179,916  $ 17,133,706  $      125,000  $ 17,269,849 
Infrastructure Development Fund         158,804       1,495,772         154,091       1,550,751 

Total         338,720     18,629,478         279,091     18,820,600 
Less: allowance for loan losses                   -       6,761,237                   -     12,795,642 

Total loans and notes
receivable, net  $      338,720  $ 11,868,241  $      279,091  $   6,024,958 

2009 2008
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Restricted assets consist of the following as of June 30, 2009 and 2008: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

6. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

During August 1989, the Board received a $2,400,000 contribution from a taxpayer to acquire and 
renovate a vacant, historic hotel building in downtown Kansas City, Missouri as part of a multi-
block redevelopment effort.  In conjunction with this purchase, the Board signed a 20-year lease 
with the United Way of Kansas City (the “United Way”) to rent the office space within the building 
upon completion of the renovation.  The lease provides for monthly rental payments of $2,084, with 
an option to purchase the building at the end of the lease term (August 15, 2009) for $1,200,000.  
The lease is accounted for as an operating lease and the building and contribution have been 
recorded as land and building and invested in capital assets.   
 
During 2000, the Board used a $6,000,000 contribution from a taxpayer and $21,100,000 in bond 
proceeds to purchase land and begin construction of a parking garage adjacent to the St. Louis 
Convention Center Hotel.  When the Parking Garage Fund was established during 2003, this 
contribution was transferred from the Industrial Development and Reserve Fund.  The garage began 
operations during August 2002.   
 
In addition, during 2004 and 2003, the Board used $6,800,000 in contributions received pursuant to 
the Board’s tax credit for contribution program to fund construction of a parking garage to support 
the new downtown headquarters for the Kansas City Public Library.  The garage began operations 
during April 2004.  The garage was contributed in May 2008 to the Kansas City Urban Public 
Library District. 
 

2009 2008
Infrastructure bond debt service reserve funds 1,500,000$     1,500,000$     
Tax credit for contribution deposits (Note 7) 7,630,167       21,203,714     
Old Post Office construction and reserve
   deposits 
Total restricted assets – Industrial Development
         and Reserve Fund

2009 2008
St. Louis Convention Center Hotel Garage
    reserve deposits (Note 9)
Ninth Street Garage construction and
   reserve deposits 

Total restricted assets – Parking Garage Fund 1,301,632$    2,719,562$     

24,278,999$    

1,301,632       1,299,539       

-                    1,575,285       

-$                  1,420,023$     

9,130,167$     
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In April 2003, the Board used a $10,000,000 contribution from a taxpayer and began participating 
in two related redevelopment projects in downtown St. Louis, Missouri.  The first project, 
commonly referred to as the “Old Post Office Project” or the “OPO Project,” consists of the 
acquisition and renovation of a historic structure in downtown St. Louis known as the U.S. Custom 
House and Old Post Office.  The second project consists of the acquisition and demolition of the 
Century Building and the construction of a parking garage located to the west of the OPO Project.  
This project is known as the “Ninth Street Garage Project” or the “NSG Project.”  The OPO and 
NSG Projects are separate and distinct projects for purposes of financial reporting, but integrally 
linked for development and operational purposes.   
 
The Board acquired title to the OPO Project on October 13, 2004 from the General Services 
Administration of the United States of America at no cost to the Board.  The Board then executed a 
99-year lease of the OPO Project with St. Louis U. S. Custom House and Post Office Building 
Associates, L.P.; a Missouri limited partnership (OPO Master Lessee).  In connection with the 
financial closing of the OPO Project on October 14, 2004, the Board made a subordinated loan to 
the OPO Master Lessee in the amount of $12,750,000 to assist in the financing of the OPO Project.  
The current balance is $12,723,755.  Per the master lease agreement, costs previously recognized as 
construction in progress were reclassified to the loan balance outstanding. Pursuant to the OPO 
Master Lease, the Board has an option to purchase the OPO leasehold interest from the OPO 
Master Lessee at the greater of the fair market value or the development debt outstanding beginning 
in 2014.  Renovation of the OPO Project was completed in late 2006. 
 
The NSG Project is owned by the Board and consists of the development and construction of a 
1,050 space parking garage located on the west side of Ninth Street directly across from the OPO 
Project. The land was purchased in April, 2003.  The Board has entered into long-term parking 
leases with tenants of the OPO Project and with surrounding businesses and building owners.  The 
NSG Project was completed in 2007. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
(A Component Unit of the State of Missouri) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2009 and 2008 
 

30 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2009, was as follows: 

Balance Balance
July 1, Deletions/ June 30,
2008 Additions Retirements 2009

$ 7,219,739     -$                -$                7,219,739$    

being depreciated 7,219,739     -                  -                  7,219,739     

49,557,914    -                  -                  49,557,914    
120,637        27,747          -                  148,384        

Leasehold improvements 56,211          -                  -                  56,211          
Vehicle 19,172          -                  -                  19,172          

depreciated 49,753,934    27,747          -                  49,781,681    

4,698,644     1,245,959     -                  5,944,603     
81,374          21,624          -                  102,998        

Leasehold improvements 19,337          5,669           -                  25,006          
Vehicle 2,663           6,389           -                  9,052           

4,802,018     1,279,641     -                  6,081,659     

depreciated, net 44,951,916    (1,251,894)    -                  43,700,022    

$ 52,171,655    (1,251,894)$  -$                50,919,761$  

Total capital assets, being

Total capital assets, net

   Less: accumulated depreciation for:
    Building
    Equipment

   Total accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Building
Equipment

Total capital assets, being

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land

Total capital assets, not

A summary of capital assets by fund at June 30, 2009 follows:

 Industrial 
Development 
and Reserve 

Fund 
Parking Garage 

Fund 
 Total Capital 

Assets 

Land -$                7,219,739$    7,219,739$    
Building 2,400,000     47,157,914    49,557,914    
Equipment 102,224        46,160          148,384        
Leasehold improvements 56,211          -                  56,211          
Vehicle 19,172          -                  19,172          
         Sub-total 2,577,607     54,423,813    57,001,420    
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,307,871)    (4,773,788)    (6,081,659)    

         Total capital assets, net 1,269,736$    49,650,025$  50,919,761$  
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Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2008, was as follows:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A summary of capital assets by fund at June 30, 2008 follows:

 Industrial 
Development 
and Reserve 

Fund 
 Parking Garage 

Fund 
 Total Capital 

Assets 

Land -$                7,219,739$    7,219,739$    
Building 2,400,000     47,157,914    49,557,914    
Equipment 95,858          24,779          120,637        
Leasehold improvements 56,211          -                  56,211          
Vehicle 19,172          -                  19,172          
         Sub-total 2,571,241     54,402,432    56,973,673    
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,222,438)    (3,579,579)    (4,802,018)    

         Total capital assets, net 1,348,803$    50,822,853$  52,171,655$  

Balance Balance
June 30, Deletions/ June 30,

2007 Additions Retirements 2008

$ 9,271,177     -$                (2,051,438)$  7,219,739$    

being depreciated 9,271,177     -                  (2,051,438)    7,219,739     

55,292,997    1,383,465     (7,118,547)    49,557,914    
150,175        19,996          (49,535)        120,637        

Leasehold improvements 55,099          1,112           -                  56,211          
Vehicle -                  19,172          -                  19,172          
Façade 1,849,357     -                  (1,849,357)    -                  

depreciated 57,347,628    1,423,745     (9,017,439)    49,753,934    

4,029,492     1,409,092     (739,940)       4,698,644     
68,937          28,412          (15,975)        81,374          

Leasehold improvements 13,775          5,563           -                  19,337          
Vehicle -                  2,663           -                  2,663           
Façade 94,838          43,468          (138,307)       -                  

4,207,042     1,489,198     (894,222)       4,802,018     

depreciated, net 53,140,586    (65,453)        (8,123,217)    44,951,916    

$ 62,411,763    (65,453)$       (10,174,655)$ 52,171,655$  

Total capital assets, being

Total capital assets, net

   Less: accumulated depreciation for:
    Building
    Equipment

   Total accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Building
Equipment

Total capital assets, being

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land

Total capital assets, not
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7.  TAX CREDIT FOR CONTRIBUTION DEPOSITS 
 

One of the Board’s programs is the Tax Credit for Contribution program.  During any calendar 
year, the Board is authorized to issue $10 million in tax credits.  The limitation on tax credit 
authorization may be exceeded only upon mutual agreement, evidenced by a signed and properly 
notarized letter, by the commissioner of the office of administration, the director of the department 
of economic development, and the director of the department of revenue that such action is 
essential to ensure retention or attraction of investment in Missouri provided, however, that in no 
case shall more than $25 million in tax credits be authorized or approved during such year.  Prior to 
July 4, 2009, there was no cap on authorizations approved with the authority to exceed the $10 
million calendar year cap.  In addition prior to the July 4, 2009, legislation the Board was 
authorized to issue the greater of $10 million or five percent of the average growth in general 
revenue receipts in the preceding three fiscal years. 
 
Through this program, the Board is authorized to grant tax credits in an amount equal to fifty 
percent of contributions accepted by the Board.  Eligible infrastructure projects approved by the 
Board are granted the contributions.  Contributions received by the Board are remitted to fund the 
project upon requests supported by proof of eligible reimbursable project expenditures or used to 
fund projects owned by the Board.  Contributions on deposit with the Board are reflected as 
restricted assets and a liability in the accompanying financial statements.  As of June 30, 2009 and 
2008, the Board held deposits received pursuant to the Tax Credit for Contribution program of 
$7,630,167 and $21,203,714, respectively.   
 

8. OUTSTANDING BOND DEBT 
 

Summary of debt held as of June 30, 2009 and 2008, is as follows: 
 

2009 2008
$3,910,000 St. Louis Convention Center Hotel Garage 
Series 2000B, taxable infrastructure facilities revenue 
bonds; and $11,440,000 St. Louis Convention Center Hotel 
Garage Series 2000C, tax exempt infrastructure facilities 
revenue bonds.  Remaining principal is due December 1, 
2021.  $     15,350,000  $     15,350,000 

$8,500,000 Ninth Street Garage Series 2004A, taxable 
infrastructure facilities revenue bonds; and $7,000,000 
Ninth Street Garage Series 2004B, tax exempt 
infrastructure facilities revenue bonds.  Annual installments 
began October 1, 2008 and will continue through October 1, 
2034, plus interest up to 10%.        15,500,000        16,500,000 

Total  $     30,850,000  $     31,850,000 
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Changes in outstanding bond debt for the year ended June 30, 2009, were as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Changes in outstanding bond debt for the year ended June 30, 2008, were as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

St. Louis Convention Center Hotel Series 2000B and 2000C:   
 
The annual debt service requirements as of June 30, 2009 are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The bonds have mandatory sinking fund redemptions that are the equivalent of maturing principal 
as indicated above.   The annual debt service schedule above assumes an interest rate of 0.502% 
representing the interest rate at June 30, 2009.  The actual interest paid during 2009 and 2008 
averaged 1.996% and 3.732% respectively.   
 
The bonds bear interest at a daily rate.  When the bonds are in a daily rated period, the interest rate 
on bonds will be determined by the remarketing agent as the lowest rate of interest which in its 
judgment will cause the bonds to have a market value, as of the date of determination, equal to the 
principal amount of the bonds, taking into account prevailing market conditions. 
 
The rate cap agreements purchased during closing of the financing for the St. Louis Convention 
Center Hotel and Garage project were 8.5% on the Series B bonds and 6.7% on the Series C bonds 
with an expiration date of December 1, 2007.  The Board did not renew the rate cap during fiscal 
year 2008. 

Principal Interest Total
2010  $                -  $       77,006 $       77,006 
2011                   -           77,006          77,006 
2012                   -           77,006          77,006 
2013                   -           77,006          77,006 
2014                   -           77,006          77,006 
2015                   -           77,006          77,006 
2016                   -           77,006          77,006 
2017 - 2021     15,350,000         385,028    15,735,028 
Totals  $ 15,350,000  $      924,068 $ 16,274,068 

Balance Balance Due within
June 30, 2008 Additions Reductions June 30, 2009 one year

Infrastructure facilities
revenue bonds  $ 31,850,000  $                -  $   1,000,000  $  30,850,000  $      240,000 

Balance Balance Due within
June 30, 2007 Additions Reductions June 30, 2008 one year

Infrastructure facilities
revenue bonds  $ 31,850,000  $                -  $                -  $  31,850,000  $      240,000 
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Ninth Street Garage Series 2004A and B: 
 
The annual debt service requirements as of June 30, 2009 are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The bonds have mandatory sinking fund redemptions that are the equivalent of maturing principal 
as indicated above.   As security for the reimbursement of the bank, the Board is required to 
maintain unrestricted cash balances and investments on its balance sheet equal to the lesser of 
$10,000,000 or 61% of the principal amount of the bonds until such time as the net cash flow from 
the project is a least 1.25 times debt service on the bonds for two consecutive years.  Thereafter, the 
Board is required to maintain unrestricted cash balances and investments on its balance sheet of not 
less than $2,000,000.  In addition, the Board must maintain a ratio of total adjusted liabilities to 
total net assets of 1.5:1.  
 
The annual debt service schedule above assumes an interest rate of 0.511% representing the interest 
rate as of June 30, 2009.  The actual interest paid during 2009 and 2008 averaged 1.765% and 
3.72%, respectively.   
 
The bonds bear interest at a daily rate.  When the bonds are in a daily rated period, the interest rate 
on bonds will be determined by the remarketing agent as the lowest rate of interest which in its 
judgment will cause the bonds to have a market value, as of the date of determination, equal to the 
principal amount of the bonds, taking into account prevailing market conditions.  The Board has the 
option in the future to restructure the bond debt to acquire a fixed interest rate.  
 

Principal Interest Total
2010         240,000           77,928        317,928 
2011         255,000           76,626        331,626 
2012         270,000           75,247        345,247 
2013         290,000           73,766        363,766 
2014         305,000           72,208        377,208 
2015         325,000           70,549        395,549 
2016 - 2020       2,005,000         323,355      2,328,355 
2021 - 2025       2,755,000         261,079      3,016,079 
2026 - 2030       3,805,000         175,414      3,980,414 
2031 - 2035       5,250,000           57,220      5,307,220 
Totals  $ 15,500,000  $   1,263,392 $ 16,763,392 
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9.  RENTAL INCOME 
 

Future minimum rental income on non-cancelable operating leases is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Industrial Development and Reserve Fund building located in downtown Kansas City is leased 
by the United Way of Greater Kansas City.  The carrying value of the building is $2,400,000 and 
accumulated depreciation as of June 30, 2009 and 2008, was $1,190,000 and $1,130,000, 
respectively.  The lease expires August 15, 2009.  The United Way exercised its option to purchase 
the building in August 2009. 
 
The Parking Garage Fund’s SLCCH parking garage is an 880-space garage constructed by the 
Board to support the St. Louis Convention Center Hotel project in downtown St. Louis.  The 
carrying value of the garage is $21,913,825, less accumulated depreciation of $2,975,174 and 
$2,545,028 as of June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The hotel operator leases a minimum of 
375 spaces with the option of leasing up to 275 additional spaces with proper notice.  The minimum 
lease payment for the hotel’s use of the garage is $554,282 per year with an expiration date of 
February 15, 2048.  In addition to the hotel, the nearby Merchandise Mart, a mixed-use 
development with apartments and retail space, has a lease for up to 118 spaces in this parking 
garage with minimum annual lease payments of $25,000.  The initial lease is for 19 years from the 
date that the Merchandise Mart received its occupancy certificate, September 19, 2001.  There is a 
renewal option for an additional 11 years if the Merchandise Mart pays a $50,000 renewal fee on 
August 2, 2021.  Finally, the Roberts Old School House Lofts, LP (Roberts) has a lease for 50 
spaces in this garage with annual lease payments of $75,000 with an expiration date of August 26, 
2009 and renewable for five consecutive 5-year periods on each expiration date.  Beginning 
December 1, 2009, the number of spaces for this lease increases to 75 and annual lease payments 
will be $112,500.  Both the Merchandise Mart and Roberts leases call for parking rates to be the 

Industrial 
Development 
& Reserve 

Fund
Parking 

Garage Fund

2010 $3,126 $1,163,112 
2011                   -      1,284,462 
2012                   -      1,231,482 
2013                   -      1,169,862 
2014                   -      1,169,862 
2015-2019                   -      5,754,360 
2020-2024                   -      4,580,010 
2025-2029                   -      4,166,410 
2030-2034                   -      3,333,910 
2035-2039                   -      3,333,910 
2040-2044                   -      3,333,910 
2045-2048                   -      2,267,427 
Totals  $         3,126 $32,788,717 
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same as those paid by the general public for monthly parking.  Currently, Roberts is utilizing 38 
spaces in the garage. 
 
The Parking Garage Fund’s NSG parking garage is a 1,050-space garage constructed by the Board 
to support the renovation of the Old Post Office project and redevelopment of adjacent vacant 
buildings in downtown St. Louis. The carrying value of the garage is $32,463,828, less 
accumulated depreciation of $1,779,428 and $1,023,616 as of June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
Leases have been negotiated with the Eastern District Court of Appeals, Webster University, Frisco 
Associates, Pyramid Construction (which was assigned to Paul Brown Developer, L.P.), Talley 
Properties, L.L.C., and tenants of the Syndicate Building.  Entities controlled by the Roberts 
Brothers have leases in place, but are not currently parking in the facility or making payments.   
The estimated minimum lease payments for all lessees at the Ninth Street Garage total $525,000 per 
year with expiration dates from 2011 through 2047.   The Office of Administration for the State of 
Missouri, on a month to month basis, takes 513 spaces and pays $612,708 per year.  
 
Under a lease dated November 26, 2008, the Board leased the 20,800 square feet of retail space in 
the NSG to SMI-NSG, LLC, an affiliate of Schnuck Markets, Inc. and DESCO.  The lessee will 
open an urban concept grocery store, Culinaria, and pay annual rent of $187,200.   The Board also 
entered into a Parking Validation Agreement that provides store customers with free parking for 
one hour from 9-5 on weekdays and two hours at all other times, and a provision for free employee 
parking for up to 336 hours per day.  The Board also approved providing SMI-NSG, LLC 
$1,100,000 of remaining NSG bond funds for tenant improvements.  

 
 

10. CONTRIBUTIONS TO OTHERS 
 
As stated above in Note 9, during fiscal year 2009 the Board approved funding of $1,100,000 to 
SMI-NSG, LLC for tenant improvements.  During fiscal years 2009 and 2008, the Board sponsored 
the Tour of Missouri Bicycle Race and approved $500,000 and $950,000, respectively, in funds for 
this annual event.   
 
In February 2008, the Board approved the contribution of the Kansas City Library Garage (KCLG) 
to the Kansas City Urban Public Library District in exchange for $425,000 to be paid to the Board.  
The KCLG property, plant and equipment was held on the Board’s books at $10,173,762, net of 
depreciation as of the closing date of the sale, May 31, 2008.   The net contribution of the KCLG 
was $9,763,892.  See Note 6 for discussion of the KCLG. 
 
 

11. LEASE AGREEMENTS 
 
(a) Office Lease Obligation 
 
In October 2004, the Board entered into a lease with Hotel Governor of Jefferson City, LLP, to 
lease 3,501 square feet on the 10th Floor of the Governor Office Building.  The lease is an operating 
lease with a term of 10 years.  The Board has capitalized related tenant improvements in the amount 
of $56,211.  During fiscal years 2009 and 2008, $55,077 and $53,472 was paid, respectively.   
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Future minimum lease payments for this lease are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(b) Copier Lease Obligation 
 
In December 2007, the Board entered into a lease with Gibbs Technology Leasing, LLC to lease 
copier equipment.  The lease is accounted for as an operating lease.  The term of the lease is four 
years.  Future minimum lease payments for this lease are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
(c) KC Overhaul Base Lease 
 
In December 2004, the Board accepted a contribution from the EDC Loan Corporation (EDC), a 
not-for-profit organization, consisting of an assignment of a 50-year leasehold interest in the 
Kansas City Overhaul Base located adjacent to the Kansas City International Airport (the Overhaul 
Base).  This leasehold interest was originally held by the City of Kansas City (the “City”) and then 
was contributed to EDC, a related organization of the City, by the City.   
 
EDC’s contribution to the Board of the leasehold interest was valued by an independent appraiser at 
$32,000,000.  In return, the Board issued a total of $16,000,000 in contribution tax credits to EDC.  
These tax credits were sold by EDC at the direction of the Board to independent parties.  The tax 
credits were sold by EDC as follows: $5,333,333 on March 3, 2005; $5,333,333, on July 2, 2005; 
and $5,333,334 issued on June 30, 2006.  The Board paid the proceeds from the tax credit sales to 
the City to be used by the City for payment of a bond issued by the City for the renovation of the 
Overhaul Base.   
 
In addition, the City and the Board entered into an assumption agreement as of December 31, 2004 
with the City assuming all responsibility and liability relating to ownership, management and 
operations of the Overhaul Base.  As a result of this assumption of the leasehold interest by the 
City, the Board has no assets or liabilities related to the leasehold interest recorded in its financial 
statements.   

 
(d) State of Missouri Acting By and Through Its Office of Administration 

 
In November 2005 and May 2006, the Board issued Series 2005 and 2006 Leasehold Revenue 
Bonds for the benefit of the State of Missouri Office Buildings Project.  With the proceeds of the 
bonds, the Board purchased four office buildings, which it then leased on a net basis, to State of 

2010 $   56,729 
2011      58,431 
2012      60,184 
2013      61,990 
2014      63,849 
2015      16,079 
Total minimum lease obligation $ 317,262 

2010 $   4,464 
2011      4,464 
2012      2,232 
Total minimum lease obligation $ 11,160 
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Missouri through its Office of Administration (OA) for the term of the debt 25 years, subject to 
annual state appropriation of lease payments needed to retire the fixed rate, level amortization, 
bonds. The Board transferred its interests in the lease agreement and security interest in the 
buildings to the bond trustee through a trust indenture. 
   
Bond payments are to be paid exclusively from rent revenues received.  In addition, payment of the 
bonds is insured by a municipal bond new issue insurance policy.  The bonds do not constitute a 
debt or liability of the Board.  
 
Upon request, the State has the option to purchase the buildings.  Furthermore, once bonds are paid 
in full, ownership defers to the lessee.  Generally, the State retains all rights and obligations of 
ownership of the buildings. 
 
As a result, the Board has excluded the buildings and related debt from its financial statements. 
 
(e) MasterCard International Incorporated Facility Lease 

 
In 1999, the Board issued Bonds for $154 million to fund construction of approximately 414,000 
square feet of office space and a 114,000 square foot data and energy center on 52 acres in 
O’Fallon.  In order for MasterCard to qualify for tax abatement, the Board took title to the property 
which it leased to the O’Fallon Public Facilities Authority (Authority). The Authority used the 
proceeds of the bond issue to build and equip the MasterCard project, and then leased the building 
to MCI O’Fallon 1999 Trust (Trust), which further subleased to MasterCard.   In 2008, MasterCard 
exercised its option to refund the Bonds.  The Board issued $160 million in conduit debt to 
facilitate the refunding.  The refunding eliminated the Authority and the Trust and resulted in the 
Board leasing to MasterCard directly. 

 
Bond payments and related interest are to be paid exclusively from rent and other revenues from the 
lease agreement.  Such payments, revenues and receipts are pledged and assigned to the bond 
trustee as security for the payment of the Bonds as provided in the Bond Indenture.  The bonds do 
not constitute a debt or liability of the Board.  
 
Upon request, MasterCard has the option to purchase the buildings.  Furthermore, once bonds are 
paid in full, MasterCard can purchase the facility for $10.  Generally, MasterCard retains all rights 
and obligations of ownership of the buildings. 
 
As a result, the Board has excluded the buildings and related debt from its financial statements. 

 
12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

(a) City of Independence Line of Credit 
 
In March 2009, the Board authorized a Direct Loan with the City of Independence (City) not to 
exceed $1.5 million.  The purpose of the loan is to fund several small capital projections throughout 
the city.  The loan has been structured as a line of credit to allow the City to draw proceeds as 
project costs are incurred.   As of June 30, 2009, the City has drawn down $167,557 and repaid 
$4,672 and $254 in principal and interest respectively.  The outstanding balance as of June 30, 2009 
is $162,885. 
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(b) Loan Guarantees 
 

The Board has guaranteed repayment to the financial institution holding certain loans of up to 85% 
of the outstanding guaranteed balance of certain approved loans to businesses in the State.  Total 
loans outstanding under the Loan Guarantee Program amounted to approximately $0 as of June 30, 
2008.  The loan was repaid during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008.   
 
(c) Irrevocable Line of Credit 
 
As of January 13, 2006, the Board has issued an irrevocable line of credit in favor of the Missouri 
Department of Natural Resources (DNR) and the United States of America acting through the 
Chief, Base Realignment and Closure Division Office of the Assistant Chief of Staff for Installation 
Management Headquarters, Department of the Army (Army), a line of credit in an amount not to 
exceed $1,800,000, at the request and for the account of St. Louis Land Clearance for 
Redevelopment Authority (LCRA). 
 
The line of credit expires January 13, 2012; however, the expiration date may be automatically 
extended for a period of one year on each successive expiration date, unless, 120 days before the 
current expiration date, the Board or the Army notifies DNR the decision has been made not to 
extend the line of credit beyond the current expiration date.  The line of credit bears interest at 
prime rate and interest payments are due on the first business day of the month with the principal 
due on January 13, 2012. 
 
As of fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 there have been no draws on the line of credit and the 
outstanding balance is $0. 
 
(d) Ninth Street Garage Letter of Credit 
 
On October 1, 2004, in connection with the construction of the Ninth Street Garage, the Board 
established a letter of credit with Bank of America in the amount of $16,658,220.  The purpose of 
the letter of credit is to reduce interest costs on the bonds and to induce the purchase of the bonds.  
Interest on the bonds is at an assumed rate of interest of 10% per annum.  Beginning October 6, 
2007, the letter of credit shall automatically renew for four additional 1-year periods (each such 1-
year period constituting a “Renewal Term”, with the final such Renewal Term terminating October 
5, 2011), unless the Board shall no later than 90 days before the then current Expiration Date 
provide written notice to the Credit Bank and the Trustee of its decision not to extend the letter of 
credit.  Beginning October 6, 2011, the letter of credit shall automatically renew for additional 
Renewal Terms unless the credit bank or the Board shall no later than 90 days before the then 
current expiration date provide written notice to the other and to the trustee of its decision not to 
extend the letter of credit.  The final Renewal Term shall terminate no later than October 5, 2034. 
 

      (e) Conduit Bond Issues 
 
As of June 30, 2009, the Board has issued $1,237,242,420 in Single Issue Industrial Revenue 
Bonds, $57,810,000 in Private Activity Composite Industrial Revenue Bonds, and $1,667,600,000 
in Public Purpose Capital Improvement and Refunding Leasehold Revenue Bonds.  The 
outstanding balances on these bonds and notes as of June 30, 2009, were approximately 
$560,590,127, $0 and $814,896,000, respectively. 
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As of June 30, 2008, the Board has issued $972,012,420 in Single Issue Industrial Revenue Bonds, 
$57,810,000 in Private Activity Composite Industrial Revenue Bonds, and $1,477,570,000 in 
Public Purpose Capital Improvement and Refunding Leasehold Revenue Bonds.  The outstanding 
balances on these bonds and notes as of June 30, 2008, were approximately $684,901,278, $0 and 
$672,706,000, respectively. 

 
The Board has no liability for repayment of the above revenue bonds and notes aside from reserve 
fund deposits and, accordingly, these bonds and notes have not been recorded in the accompanying 
financial statements.  Security for the bondholders consists of the unconditional obligation of the 
borrowers to repay the bonds and notes, and, in certain cases, insurance, letters of credit, annual 
appropriation pledges, and certain funds held through trustees under the various indentures. 
 
(f) Legal Matters – Old Post Office Litigation 

 
On April 19, 2005, the Board (and certain other plaintiffs) filed an action against two individuals 
(the plaintiffs in two prior lawsuits, which have been dismissed) relating to the demolition of the 
Century Building, the Old Post Office and the Ninth Street Garage.  The lawsuit alleges that the 
plaintiffs filed their lawsuits in bad faith with malicious intent.  The case is in the preliminary 
motions phase.  As of June 30, 2009, no counterclaims have been asserted against the Board or the 
other defendants.  

  
On August 28, 2008, the Pernikoff Construction Company filed an action against the Board (and 
certain other defendants) in a mechanic’s lien case.  The lawsuit alleges that the plaintiff performed 
certain tenant finish work for a tenant who leases commercial space in the St. Louis Convention 
Center building.  The Board owns a parking garage adjacent to the Convention Center.  The Board 
was named because it owns a cross-easement for ingress and egress between the Convention Center 
and the parking garage and the plaintiff is seeking an order of priority among the property owners.  
The case is in the discovery phase.  We do not expect the lawsuit to result in any judgment against 
the Board or any property of the Board. 
 
(g) Risk Management 
 
The Board is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; and workers’ compensation claims.  The Board carries commercial 
insurance for theft of assets and workers’ compensation.  The Board carries commercial property, 
comprehensive liability, and business interruption insurance policies on the St. Louis Convention 
Center Hotel and Ninth Street parking garages.  The Board is self-insured for all other risks of loss. 
 
The Board had no material unpaid claims, liabilities, or settlements related to any loss in any of the 
past three years.  No substantive changes were made in the type and amounts of the Board’s 
insurance coverage during 2009 and 2008.   
 
(h)  DREAM Commitments   
 
In August 2006, the Board, the Department of Economic Development (DED) and the Missouri 
Housing Development Commission (MHDC) initiated the DREAM program.  As required by the 
program, 30 communities were selected over three years to receive technical assistance and services 
to support them in their downtown redevelopment efforts.  The Board has contracted with PGAV 
Urban Consulting to assist in the redevelopment process of the 30 chosen communities.  Each 
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community is to receive technical assistance over the course of three years.  Costs of services over 
the next three fiscal years are estimated at $5.5 million.  During the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2009 and 2008, the Board spent approximately $1.9 million and $1.5 million towards the program.  
During fiscal year 2009, MHDC contributed $500,000.  In 2008, DED and MHDC each contributed 
$300,000 towards program costs.  In August 2009, MDFB intends to select up to 6 additional 
communities for downtown assistance through the DREAM program. 
 
(i) Small Business Micro Loan Program 

 
In January 2009, Governor Jeremiah W. (Jay) Nixon issued Executive Order 09-03 shortly after 
assuming office.  This E.O. directed the Department of Economic Development to work with the 
Board “to create a pool of funds designated for low-interest and no-interest direct loans for small 
businesses.”  Related announcements from Governor Nixon recommended this pool of funds be 
capitalized by a $2 million grant from the Board.  In April 2009, the Board approved funding the $2 
million program.  Applications were posted on DED’s website in June with a deadline of June 26, 
2009.  MFDB and DED are currently reviewing the loan applications.  The first loans will be 
approved in the year ending June 30, 2010.  The Small Business Micro Loan Program is reflected 
in the Infrastructure Development (Revolving Loan) Fund.   
 

13.  EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
(a) Defined Contribution Pension Plan 
 
In 1993, the Board established a defined contribution pension plan, called the MDFB Simplified 
Employee Plan (SEP) IRA, which is currently administered by Prudential Investments, a division of 
The Prudential Insurance Company of America.  The Board has the authority to amend or terminate 
the plan’s provisions at any time.  Contributions are discretionary and determined on an annual 
basis by the Board.  There are no contribution requirements for employees. 
 
Employees are eligible to participate in the plan on January 1 after service to the Board in at least 
three calendar years.  Eligible employees are fully vested at the time of contribution.  The Board 
contributed $51,773 and $44,714 for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  For the 
years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, the contributions amounted to 12.53% and 12.84% of the 
eligible employees’ salaries, respectively. 

 
(b) Deferred Compensation Plan 

 
In 2002, the Board established a deferred compensation plan called the Missouri Development 
Finance Board 457 Deferred Compensation Plan (457 plan) and the deferred compensation match 
plan called the Missouri Development Finance Board 401(a) Deferred Compensation Match Plan 
(401(a) plan), which are currently administered by Nationwide Retirement Solutions, Inc.   
 
The plans permit employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years.  The deferred 
compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable 
emergency.  Employees are eligible to participate in the plans after one year of service to the Board 
and must contribute $25 per month to receive the employer matching contribution of $25 per 
month.  Compensation deferred under the Plan is invested at the direction of the covered employee. 
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STATISTICAL SECTION 
 
This part of the Board’s comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as 
a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, 
and required supplementary information says about the Board’s overall financial health.  The 
Board is a discretely presented component unit of the State of Missouri as defined by Government 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity.  Based 
on GASB 14, some of the accompanying statistical section segments will include references to the 
State of Missouri.  Such segments will be noted as such.  All other information is to be deemed as 
attributable to the Board, and do not reflect the financial position and results of operations of the 
State. 
 
Contents          Page 
 
Financial Trends         43-45 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand 
how the Board’s financial performance and well-being  
have changed over time. 

 
Revenue Capacity                     46-47 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the factors 
affecting the Board’s ability to generate its own source income. 

 
Debt Capacity 48-49  

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the 
affordability of the Board’s current levels of outstanding debt and the 
Board’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

 
Demographic and Economic Information                                                                      50-55 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the 
reader understand the environment within which the Board’s financial 
activities take place.  Due to the fact that the Board was established to 
serve the State of Missouri, and is a component unit as defined by 
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, 
The Financial Reporting Entity, demographic and economic information 
for the State of Missouri will be presented in this section.  

 
Operating Information        56-58 

These schedules contain information about the Board’s operations and 
resources to help the reader understand how the Boards’ financial 
information relates to the services the Board provides and the activities it 
performs. 
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
(STATE OF MISSOURI) 

DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS 

Missouri U.S.
Calendar Civilian Total Total Unemployment Unemployment

Year Labor Force Employed Unemployed Rate Rate

2008 3,068               2,881               187 7.1 5.8

2007 3,031               2,878               153 5.0 4.6

2006 3,016               2,871               145 4.8 4.6

2005 2,997               2,836               161 5.4 5.1

2004 2,986               2,814               172 5.8 5.5

2003 2,986               2,820               166 5.6 6.0

2002 2,997               2,841               157 5.2 5.8

2001 3,003               2,868               135 4.5 4.7

2000 2,973               2,875               98 3.3 4.0

1999 2,911               2,820               91 3.1 4.2

1998 2,911               2,795               116 4.0 4.5

1997 2,904               2,780               124 4.3 4.9

1996 2,869               2,735               135 4.7 5.4

1995 2,822               2,690               132 4.7 5.6

1994 2,759               2,622               136 4.9 6.1

1993 2,706               2,540               166 6.1 6.9

Data Source:   Missouri Department of Labor and Industrial Relations

Employment
(In Thousands Except Unemployment Rates Data)
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
(STATE OF MISSOURI) 

DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS 

Missouri U.S. Missouri U.S. Missouri U.S.
Total Personal Total Personal Per Capita Per Capita % Change % Change

Calendar Income Income Personal Personal From From
Year (In Millions) (In Millions) Income Income Prior Year Prior Year

2008 208,255$                12,086,534$           35,228$               39,751$                  3.7 3.1

2007 199,773                  11,631,571             33,984                 38,564                    4.6 5.0

2006 189,575                  10,977,312             32,475                 36,744                    4.1 6.0

2005 180,512                  10,252,849             31,188                 34,650                    3.0 4.6

2004 173,906                  9,711,363               30,272                 33,123                    4.1 5.3

2003 166,129                  9,150,320               29,082                 31,466                    2.6 2.1

2002 161,104                  8,872,871               28,358                 30,810                    2.0 0.8

2001 156,937                  8,716,992               27,809                 30,574                    2.1 2.4

2000 152,722                  8,422,074               27,241                 29,845                    6.0 6.8

1999 142,925                  7,796,137               25,697                 27,939                    3.1 3.9

1998 137,619                  7,415,709               24,923                 26,883                    5.1 6.1

1997 129,992                  6,907,332               23,716                 25,334                    5.2 4.8

1996 122,469                  6,512,485               22,548                 24,175                    4.6 4.8

1995 115,948                  6,144,741               21,559                 23,076                    3.4 4.1

1994 111,005                  5,833,906               20,848                 22,172                    5.0 3.9

1993 104,699                  5,548,121               19,862                 21,346                    2.7 2.4

Data Source:    U.S. Department of Commerce -- Bureau of Economic Analysis

Personal Income
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
(STATE OF MISSOURI) 

DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS 

Census Population % of Total
Year (In Thousands) % Change Urban Rural

2000 5,595                      9.3 67.8 32.2

1990 5,117                      4.1 68.7 31.3

1980 4,917                      5.1 68.1 31.9

1970 4,677                      8.3 70.1 29.9

1960 4,320                      9.2 66.6 33.4

1950 3,955                      4.5 61.5 38.5

1940 3,785                      4.3 51.8 48.2

1930 3,629                      6.6 51.2 48.8

1920 3,404                      3.4 46.6 53.4

1910 3,293                      6.0 42.3 57.7

 Data Sources:  U.S. Department of Commerce -- Bureau of the Consensus

Population Statistics
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
(STATE OF MISSOURI) 

ECONOMIC DATA 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      Privately Owned Housing Units Authorized By Building Permits

Number of Units

13,273                       
21,525                       
29,172                       
33,114                       
32,791                       
29,309                       
28,255                       
24,739                       
24,321                       
26,840                       
25,657                       
25,156                       
26,298                       
24,282                       
26,374                       
21,702                       

 Data Source: U.S. Department of Commerce -- Bureau of the Census

2,750,047                         

2,275,667                         
2,032,503                         

2,265,005                         
2,424,875                         

1995

2000

2,149,313                         

2,569,405                         

4,286,161                         
4,702,016                         

3,186,632                         

1998
2,739,418                         

2003

Calendar

2006

Year
Valuation

(In Thousands)

2004
3,596,524                         

2001

1,889,739                         2008

2002

1996

1993 1,749,828                         

1999

1997

2007 3,128,424                         
4,086,728                         

1994

2005
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
(STATE OF MISSOURI) 

MAJOR EMPLOYERS 2008 AND 1999 

 

 

 

Number of 
Employees

Percent of Total State 
Employment

1. 40,000-42,500 1.63%
2. 20,000-22,500 0.86%
3. 17,500-20,000 0.76%
4. 12,500-15,000 0.57%
5. 10,000-12,500 0.48%
6. 7,500-10,000 0.38%
7. 7,500-10,000 0.38%
8. 7,500-10,000 0.38%
9. 7,500-10,000 0.38%
10. 7,500-10,000 0.38%

122,500-147,500 6.20%

Number of 
Employees

Percent of Total State 
Employment

1. Wal-Mart Associates, Inc. 30000 - 32,500 1.25%
2. Boeing Corporation 16,000 - 17,000 0.65%
3. Trans World Airlines, Inc. 12,000 - 13,000 0.50%
4. Washington University 11,000 - 12,000 0.46%
5. Schnuck's Markets, Inc. 10,000 - 11,000 0.42%
6. Southwestern Bell Telephone Company 10,000 - 11,000 0.42%
7. May Department Stores 9,000 - 10,000 0.38%
8. Barnes Jewish Hospital 8,000 - 9,000 0.34%
9. Ford Motor Company 8,000 - 9,000 0.34%
10. 7,000 - 8,000 0.31%

121,000 - 132,500 5.07%

1 Only includes major private employers.

 Data Source: Missouri Department of Economic Development.
Missouri Economic Research and Information Center

City of St. Louis

1999

US Department of Defense
Barnes-Jewish Hospitals

Daimler Chrysler

Wal-Mart Associates, Inc.
University of Missouri
United States Postal Service
Washington University
Boeing Corporation

Missouri Department of Corrections
Schnuck's Markets, Inc.

Employer 1

2008

Employer
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
(STATE OF MISSOURI) 

ECONOMIC DATA 

Fiscal Expanding New Investment
Year Companies Companies New Jobs (In Thousands)

2008 * * * *

2007 * * * *

2006 * * * *

2005 49 26 7,983 2,612,721$           

2004 75 35 10,696 1,524,343             

2003 44 27 7,399 695,461                

2002 83 39 12,176 1,531,699             

2001 69 29 10,246 849,447                

2000 129 53 11,732 1,204,065             

1999 301 28 7,687 1,582,768

1998 303 78 11,322 2,404,156

1997 245 48 13,593 2,503,116

1996 162 85 8,291 1,154,439

1995 156 115 14,236 889,919

* Information unavailable as of report date.  

Data Source:  Missouri Department of Economic Development

Industrial Growth
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYEE STATISTICS, 

FISCAL YEARS 2003 TO 2009 

 

 

 

 

 

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Program Staff

Full-time 5                       5                       4                       4                       3.5                    3.5                    4                       
Accounting Staff

Full-time 2                       2                       2                       2                       2.5                    2.5                    2                       
Support Staff

Full-time 2                       2                       2                       2                       2                       2                       2                       

Total Staff 9                       9                       8                       8                       8                       8                       8                       

Note:  Due to reporting format and definition changes prescribed by GASB Statement 34, only fiscal years 2003-2009 are available.

For the Year Ended June 30, 
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
SCHEDULE OF PROJECTS APPROVED, 

FISCAL YEARS 2003 TO 2009 

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Loan Guarantees -               -               -               -               1               -               -               
Bonds

Private 3               7               5               1               2               2               1               
Public 9               6               8               5               13             9               3               

MIDOC 2               1               3               2               1               -               5               
Tax Credits 9               12             6               6               6               4               2               
BUILD 4               3               1               3               4               1               2               
Tax Abatement -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
MODESA -               -               -               -               -               1               -               
DREAM 10             10             10             -               -               -               -               

37             39             33             17             27             17             13             

For the Year Ended June 30,
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MISSOURI DEVELOPMENT FINANCE BOARD 
SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL ASSETS 

FISCAL YEARS 2003 TO 2009 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Office Buildings 1                       1                       1                       1                       1                       1                       1                       
Garages 1 2                       2                       3                       2                       2                       2                       1                       

Parking capacity 1,942                1,942                2,431                1,381                1,381                1,381                870                   

Note:  Due to reporting format and definition changes prescribed by GASB Statement 34, only fiscal years 2003-2009 are available.
1 KCLG sold May 31, 2008.  Fiscal year 2008 had 3 garages for 11 months out of the year.  

For the Year Ended June 30,
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